Simple Local Polynomial Density Estimators Supplemental Appendix

Matias D. Cattaneo^{*}

Michael Jansson^{\dagger}

Xinwei ${\rm Ma}^{\ddagger}$

June 7, 2019

Abstract

This Supplemental Appendix contains general theoretical results and their proofs, which encompass those discussed in the main paper, discusses additional methodological and technical results, and reports simulation evidence.

^{*}Department of Operations Research and Financial Engineering, Princeton University.

[†]Department of Economics, UC Berkeley and *CREATES*.

[‡]Department of Economics, UC San Diego.

Contents

1	Setup 1.1 Overview of Main Results 1.2 Some Matrices	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \end{array} $
		0
2	Large Sample Properties	3
	2.1 Assumptions	3
	2.2 Preliminary Lemmas	4
	2.3 Main Results	6
3	Bandwidth Selection	7
Ő	3.1 For Density and Derivatives Estimates $(v > 1)$.7
	3.2 For CDF Estimate $(v = 0)$	10
4	Application to Manipulation Testing	11
-	4.1 Uprostricted Model	11
	4.1 Official Model	11
	4.2 Restricted Model	14
5	Other Standard Error Estimators	16
Ŭ	5.1 Plug-in Standard Error	16
	5.2 Jackknife-based Standard Error	16
6	Simulation Study	17
Ŭ	6.1 DGP 1: Truncated Normal Distribution	17
	6.2 DGP 2: Exponential Distribution	18
	0.2 DOI 2. Experiencial Distribution	10
Re	eferences	19
7	Proof	20
	7.1 Proof of Lemma 1	20
	7.2 Proof of Lemma 2	20
	7.3 Proof of Lemma 3	21
	7.4 Proof of Lemma 4	22
	7.5 Proof of Theorem 1	22
	7.6 Proof of Theorem 2	23
	7.7 Proof of Lemma 5	24^{-5}
	7.8 Proof of Lemma 6	24
	7.9 Proof of Theorem 3	25
	7 10 Proof of Lemma 7	25
	7 11 Proof of Lemma 8	25
	7.12 Proof of Lemma 0	20 25
	7.12 Proof of Lemma 10	20
	7.13 T1001 01 Lemma 10	21
	7.15 Proof of Lamma 11	21 97
	7.16 Droof of Lemma 19	21
	7.17 Droof of Lemma 12	21
	(.1) F1001 01 LeIIIIIa 15	21
	(.10 Froot of Lemma 14	30
	(.19 Proof of Corollary 2	30

1 Setup

We repeat the setup in the main paper for completeness. Recall that $\{x_i\}_{1 \le i \le n}$ is a random sample from the cumulative distribution function (hereafter CDF) F, supported on $\mathcal{X} = [x_L, x_U]$. Note that it is possible to have $x_L = -\infty$ and/or $x_U = \infty$. We will assume both x_L and x_U are finite, to facilitate discussion on boundary estimation issues.

Define the empirical distribution function (hereafter EDF)

$$\tilde{F}(x) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i} \mathbb{1}[x_i \le x].$$

Note that in the main paper, we use $\hat{F}(\cdot)$ to denote the above EDF We avoid such notation in this Supplemental Appendix, and instead use $\tilde{F}(\cdot)$, because a (smoothed) CDF estimator can be obtained from our local polynomial approach.

Given $p \in \mathbb{N}$, our local polynomial distribution estimator is defined as

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_p(x) = \arg\min_{\mathbf{b}\in\mathbb{R}^{p+1}}\sum_i \left(\tilde{F}(x_i) - \mathbf{r}_p(x_i - x)'\mathbf{b}\right)^2 K\left(\frac{x_i - x}{h}\right),$$

where $\mathbf{r}_p(u) = [1, u, u^2, \dots, u^p]$ is a (one-dimensional) polynomial expansion; K is a kernel function whose properties are to be specified later; $h = h_n$ is a bandwidth sequence. The estimator, $\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_p(x)$, is motivated as a local Taylor series expansion, hence the target parameter is (i.e., the population counterpart, assuming exists)

$$\boldsymbol{\beta}_p(x) = \left[\frac{1}{0!}F(x), \ \frac{1}{1!}F^{(1)}(x), \ \cdots, \ \frac{1}{p!}F^{(p)}(x)\right]'.$$

Therefore, we also write

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_p(x) = \left[\frac{1}{0!}\hat{F}_p(x), \ \frac{1}{1!}\hat{F}_p^{(1)}(x), \ \cdots, \ \frac{1}{p!}\hat{F}_p^{(p)}(x)\right]',$$

or equivalently, $\hat{F}_p^{(v)} = v! \mathbf{e}'_v \hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_p(x)$, provided that $v \leq p$, and \mathbf{e}_v is the (v+1)-th unit vector of \mathbb{R}^{p+1} . (The subscript p is omitted in the main paper to economize notation.) We also use $f = F^{(1)}$ to denote the corresponding probability density function (hereafter PDF) for convenience.

The estimator has the following matrix form:

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_{p}(x) = \mathbf{H}^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{n} \mathbf{X}_{h}' \mathbf{K}_{h} \mathbf{X}_{h} \right)^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{n} \mathbf{X}_{h}' \mathbf{K}_{h} \mathbf{Y} \right), \qquad \mathbf{X}_{h} = \left[\left(\frac{x_{i} - x}{h} \right)^{j} \right]_{1 \le i \le n, \ 0 \le j \le p}$$

where \mathbf{K}_h is a diagonal matrix collecting $\{h^{-1}K((x_i - x)/h)\}_{1 \le i \le n}$, and \mathbf{Y} is a column vector collecting $\{\tilde{F}(x_i)\}_{1 \le i \le n}$. We also adopt the convention $K_h(u) = h^{-1}K(u/h)$.

In this Supplemental Appendix, we use n to denote sample size, and limits are taken with $n \to \infty$, unless otherwise specified. The standard Euclidean norm is denoted by $|\cdot|$, and other norms will be defined at their first appearances. Maximum and minimum of two real numbers a and b are denoted by $a \lor b$ and $a \land b$, respectively. For sequence of numbers (or random variables), $a_n \preceq b_n$ implies $\limsup_n |a_n/b_n|$ is finite, and $a_n \simeq b_n$ implies both directions. The notation $a_n \preceq_{\mathbb{P}} b_n$ is used to denote that $|a_n/b_n|$ is asymptotically tight: $\limsup_{\varepsilon \uparrow \infty} \limsup_n \mathbb{P}[|a_n/b_n| \ge \varepsilon] = 0$. $a_n \asymp b_n$ implies both $a_n \preccurlyeq b_n$ and $b_n \preccurlyeq a_n$. When b_n is a sequence of nonnegative numbers, $a_n = O(b_n)$ is sometimes used for $a_n \preccurlyeq b_n$, so does $a_n = O_{\mathbb{P}}(b_n)$. For probabilistic convergence, we use $\to_{\mathbb{P}}$ for convergence in probability and \rightsquigarrow for weak convergence (convergence in distribution). Standard normal distribution is denoted as $\mathcal{N}(0, 1)$, with CDF Φ and PDF ϕ . Throughout, we use C to denote generic constants which do not depend on sample size. The exact value can change given the context.

1.1 Overview of Main Results

In this subsection, we give an overview of our results, including a (first order) mean squared error (hereafter MSE) expansion, and asymptotic normality. Fix some $v \ge 1$ and p, we have the following:

$$\left|\hat{F}_{p}^{(v)}(x) - F^{(v)}(x)\right| = O_{\mathbb{P}}\left(h^{p+1-v}\mathcal{B}_{p,v}(x) + h^{p+2-v}\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{p,v}(x) + \sqrt{\frac{1}{nh^{2v-1}}\mathcal{V}_{p,v}(x)}\right).$$

The previous result gives MSE expansion for derivative estimators, $1 \le v \le p$, but not for v = 0. With v = 0, $\hat{F}_p(x)$ is essentially a smoothed EDF, which estimates the CDF F(x). Since F(x) is \sqrt{n} -estimable, one should be expected that the estimated distribution function will have very different properties compared to the estimated derivatives. Indeed, we have

$$\left|\hat{F}_{p}(x) - F(x)\right| = O_{\mathbb{P}}\left(h^{p+1}\mathcal{B}_{p,0}(x) + h^{p+2}\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{p,0}(x) + \sqrt{\frac{1}{n}\mathcal{V}_{p,0}(x)}\right).$$

There is another complication, however, when x is in the boundary region. For a drifting sequence x in the boundary region, the EDF $\tilde{F}(x)$ is "super-consistent" in the sense that it converges at rate $\sqrt{h/n}$. The reason is that when x is near $x_{\rm L}$ or $x_{\rm U}$, $\tilde{F}(x)$ is essentially estimating 0 or 1, and the variance, F(x)(1-F(x)) vanishes asymptotically, giving rise to the additional factor \sqrt{h} . This is shared by our estimator: for v = 0 and x in the boundary region, the CDF estimator $\tilde{F}_p(x)$ is super-consistent, with $\mathcal{V}_{p,0}(x) \simeq h$.

Also note that for the MSE expansion, we provide not only the first order bias but also the second order bias. The second order bias will be used for bandwidth selection, since it is well-known that in some cases the first order bias can vanish. (More precisely, when x is an interior evaluation point and p - v is even. See, for example, Fan and Gijbels 1996.)

The MSE expansion provides the rate of convergence of our estimator. The following shows that, under suitable regularity conditions, they are also asymptotically normal. Again first consider $v \ge 1$.

$$\sqrt{nh^{2\nu-1}}\Big(\hat{F}_p^{(\nu)}(x) - F^{(\nu)}(x) - h^{p+1-\nu}\mathcal{B}_{p,\nu}(x)\Big) \rightsquigarrow \mathcal{N}\Big(0,\mathcal{V}_{p,\nu}(x)\Big),$$

provided that the bandwidth is not too large, so that after scaling, the remaining bias does not feature in first-order asymptotics. For v = 0, i.e. the smoothed EDF, we have

$$\sqrt{\frac{n}{\mathcal{V}_{p,0}(x)}} \Big(\hat{F}_p(x) - F(x) - h^{p+1} \mathcal{B}_{p,0}(x) \Big) \rightsquigarrow \mathcal{N}\Big(0,1\Big),$$

where we moved the variance $\mathcal{V}_{p,0}(x)$ as a scaling factor in the above display, to encompass the situation where x lies near boundaries.

1.2 Some Matrices

In this subsection we collect some matrices which will be used throughout this Supplemental Appendix. They show up in asymptotic results as components of the (leading) bias and variance. Note that x can be either a fixed point, or it can be a drifting sequence to capture the issue of estimation and inference in boundary regions. For the latter case, x takes the form $x = x_{\rm L} + ch$ or $x = x_{\rm U} - ch$ for some $c \in [0, 1)$.

Define

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{S}_{p,x} &= \int_{\frac{x_{\mathrm{L}}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{\mathrm{U}}-x}{h}} \mathbf{r}_{p}(u) \mathbf{r}_{p}(u)' K(u) \mathrm{d}u, \quad \mathbf{c}_{p,x} = \int_{\frac{x_{\mathrm{L}}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{\mathrm{U}}-x}{h}} \mathbf{r}_{p}(u) u^{p+1} K(u) \mathrm{d}u, \quad \tilde{\mathbf{c}}_{p,x} = \int_{\frac{x_{\mathrm{L}}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{\mathrm{U}}-x}{h}} \mathbf{r}_{p}(u) u^{p+2} K(u) \mathrm{d}u, \\ \mathbf{\Gamma}_{p,x} &= \int_{\frac{x_{\mathrm{L}}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{\mathrm{U}}-x}{h}} (u \wedge v) \mathbf{r}_{p}(u) \mathbf{r}_{p}(v) K(u) K(v) \mathrm{d}u \mathrm{d}v, \quad \mathbf{T}_{p,x} = \int_{\frac{x_{\mathrm{L}}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{\mathrm{U}}-x}{h}} \mathbf{r}_{p}(u) \mathbf{r}_{p}(u)' K(u)^{2} \mathrm{d}u. \end{split}$$

Later we will assume that the kernel function K is supported on [-1, 1], hence with a shrinking bandwidth sequence $h \downarrow 0$, the region of integration in the above display can be replaced by

<i>x</i>	$(x_{\rm L}-x)/h$	$(x_{\tt U}-x)/h$
x interior	-1	+1
$x = x_{\rm L} + ch$ in lower boundary	-c	+1
$x = x_{U} - ch$ in upper boundary	-1	+c

Since we do not allow $x_{\rm L} = x_{\rm U}$, no drifting sequence x can be in both lower and upper boundary regions, at least in large samples.

2 Large Sample Properties

2.1 Assumptions

In this section we give assumptions, preliminary lemmas and our main results. Other assumptions specific to certain results will be given in corresponding sections.

Let \mathcal{O} be a connected subset of \mathbb{R} with nonempty interior, $\mathcal{C}^{s}(\mathcal{O})$ denotes functions that are at least *s*-times continuously differentiable in the interior of \mathcal{O} , and that the derivatives can be continuously extended to the boundary of \mathcal{O} .

Assumption 1 (DGP).

 $\{x_i\}_{1\leq i\leq n}$ is a random sample from distribution F, supported on $\mathcal{X} = [x_L, x_U]$. Further, $F \in \mathcal{C}^{\alpha_x}(\mathcal{X})$ for some $\alpha_x \geq 1$, and $f(x) = F^{(1)}(x) > 0$ for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$.

Assumption 2 (Kernel).

The kernel function $K(\cdot)$ is nonnegative, symmetric, and belongs to $C^0([-1,1])$. Further, it integrates to one: $\int_{\mathbb{R}} K(u) du = 1$.

2.2 Preliminary Lemmas

We first consider the object $\mathbf{X}'_h \mathbf{K}_h \mathbf{X}_h / n$

Lemma 1. Assume Assumptions 1 and 2 hold, $h \to 0$ and $nh \to \infty$. Then

$$\frac{1}{n}\mathbf{X}_{h}'\mathbf{K}_{h}\mathbf{X}_{h} = f(x)\mathbf{S}_{p,x} + o(1) + O_{\mathbb{P}}\left(1/\sqrt{nh}\right).$$

Lemma 1 shows that the matrix $\mathbf{X}'_{h}\mathbf{K}_{h}\mathbf{X}_{h}/n$ is asymptotically invertible. Also note that this result covers both interior and boundary evaluation point x, and depending on the nature of x, the exact form of $\mathbf{S}_{p,x}$ differs.

With simple algebra, one has

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_p(x) - \boldsymbol{\beta}_p(x) = \mathbf{H}^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{n} \mathbf{X}'_h \mathbf{K}_h \mathbf{X}_h \right)^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{n} \mathbf{X}'_h \mathbf{K}_h (\mathbf{Y} - \mathbf{X} \boldsymbol{\beta}_p(x)) \right),$$

and the following gives a further decomposition of the "numerator."

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{n}\mathbf{X}_{h}'\mathbf{K}_{h}(\mathbf{Y}-\mathbf{X}\boldsymbol{\beta}_{p}(x)) &= \frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\left(\tilde{F}(x_{i})-\mathbf{r}_{p}(x_{i}-x)'\boldsymbol{\beta}_{p}(x)\right)K_{h}(x_{i}-x) \\ &= \frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\left(F(x_{i})-\mathbf{r}_{p}(x_{i}-x)'\boldsymbol{\beta}_{p}(x)\right)K_{h}(x_{i}-x) \\ &+ \int_{\frac{x_{L}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{U}-x}{h}}\mathbf{r}_{p}(u)\left(\tilde{F}(x+hu)-F(x+hu)\right)K(u)f(x+hu)\mathrm{d}u \\ &+ \frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\left(\tilde{F}(x_{i})-F(x_{i})\right)K_{h}(x_{i}-x) - \int_{\frac{x_{L}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{U}-x}{h}}\mathbf{r}_{p}(u)\left(\tilde{F}(x+hu)-F(x+hu)\right)K(u)f(x+hu)\mathrm{d}u.\end{aligned}$$

The first part represents the smoothing bias, and the second part can be analyzed as a sample average. The real challenge comes from the third term, which can have a nonnegligible (first order) contribution. We further decompose it as

$$\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\left(\tilde{F}(x_{i})-F(x_{i})\right)K_{h}(x_{i}-x) = \frac{1}{n^{2}}\sum_{i,j}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\left(\mathbb{1}[x_{j}\leq x_{i}]-F(x_{i})\right)K_{h}(x_{i}-x)$$
$$=\frac{1}{n^{2}}\sum_{i}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\left(1-F(x_{i})\right)K_{h}(x_{i}-x) + \frac{1}{n^{2}}\sum_{i,j;i\neq j}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\left(\mathbb{1}[x_{j}\leq x_{i}]-F(x_{i})\right)K_{h}(x_{i}-x).$$

As a result,

$$\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\left(\tilde{F}(x_{i})-\mathbf{r}_{p}(x_{i}-x)'\boldsymbol{\beta}_{p}(x)\right)K_{h}(x_{i}-x) = \frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\left(F(x_{i})-\mathbf{r}_{p}(x_{i}-x)'\boldsymbol{\beta}_{p}(x)\right)K_{h}(x_{i}-x) \qquad (\text{smoothing bias }\hat{\mathbf{B}}_{s}) + \int_{\frac{x_{L}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{U}-x}{h}}\mathbf{r}_{p}(u)\left(\tilde{F}(x+hu)-F(x+hu)\right)K(u)f(x+hu)du \qquad (\text{linear variance }\hat{\mathbf{L}}) + \frac{1}{n^{2}}\sum_{i}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\left(1-F(x_{i})\right)K_{h}(x_{i}-x) \qquad (\text{leave-in bias }\hat{\mathbf{B}}_{LI}) + \frac{1}{n^{2}}\sum_{i,j;i\neq j}\left\{\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\left(\mathbb{1}[x_{j}\leq x_{i}]-F(x_{i})\right)K_{h}(x_{i}-x) - \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\left(\mathbb{1}[x_{j}\leq x_{i}]-F(x_{i})\right)K_{h}(x_{i}-x)|x_{j}\right]\right\}.$$

To provide intuition for the above decomposition, the smoothing bias is a typical feature of nonparametric estimators; leave-in bias arises since each observation is used twice, in constructing the EDF \tilde{F} and as a design point (that is, \tilde{F} has to be evaluated at x_i); and a second order U-statistic shows up because the "dependent variable," \mathbf{Y} , is estimated, which leads to double summation.

We first analyze the bias terms.

Lemma 2. Assume Assumptions 1 and 2 hold with $\alpha_x \ge p+1$, $h \to 0$ and $nh \to \infty$. Then

$$\hat{\mathbf{B}}_{s} = h^{p+1} \frac{F^{(p+1)}(x)f(x)}{(p+1)!} \mathbf{c}_{p,x} + o_{\mathbb{P}}(h^{p+1}), \qquad \hat{\mathbf{B}}_{LI} = O_{\mathbb{P}}(n^{-1}).$$

By imposing additional smoothness, it is also possible to characterize the next term in the smoothing bias, which has order h^{p+2} . We report the higher order bias in a later section as it is used for bandwidth selection.

Next we consider the "influence function" part, $\hat{\mathbf{L}}$. This term is crucial in the sense that (under suitable conditions so that $\hat{\mathbf{R}}$ becomes negligible) it determines the asymptotic variance of our estimator, and with correct scaling, it is asymptotically normally distributed.

Lemma 3. Assume Assumptions 1 and 2 hold with $\alpha_x \ge 2$, $h \to 0$ and $nh \to \infty$. Define the scaling matrix

$$\mathbf{N}_{x} = \begin{cases} \operatorname{diag} \left\{ 1, \quad h^{-1/2}, \ h^{-1/2}, \ \cdots, \ h^{-1/2} \right\} & x \text{ interior,} \\ \operatorname{diag} \left\{ h^{-1/2}, \ h^{-1/2}, \ h^{-1/2}, \ \cdots, \ h^{-1/2} \right\} & x \text{ boundary} \end{cases}$$

then

$$\sqrt{n}\mathbf{N}_{x}\Big[f(x)\mathbf{S}_{p,x}\Big]^{-1}\hat{\mathbf{L}}\rightsquigarrow\mathcal{N}(\mathbf{0},\ \mathbf{V}_{p,x})$$

with

$$\mathsf{V}_{p,x} = \begin{cases} F(x)(1-F(x))\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}'_{0} + f(x)(\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}'_{0})\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{p,x}\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}(\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}'_{0}) & x \text{ interior} \\ f(x)\left(\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{p,x}\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} + c\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}'_{0}\right) & x = x_{\mathsf{L}} + ch \\ f(x)\left(\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{p,x}\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} + c\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}'_{0} - (\mathbf{e}_{1}\mathbf{e}'_{0} + \mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}'_{1})\right) & x = x_{\mathsf{U}} - ch. \end{cases}$$

The scaling matrix depends on whether the evaluation point is located in the interior or boundary, which is a unique feature of our estimator. To see the intuition, consider an interior point x, and recall that the first element of $\hat{\beta}_p(x)$ is the smoothed EDF, which is \sqrt{n} -estimable. Therefore, the property of $\hat{F}_p(x)$ is very different from those of the estimated density and higher order derivatives.

When x is either in the lower or upper boundary region, $\hat{F}_p(x)$ essentially estimates 0 or 1, respectively, hence it is super-consistent in the sense that it converges even faster than $1/\sqrt{n}$. In this case, the leading $1/\sqrt{n}$ -variance vanishes, and higher order residual noise dominates, which makes $\hat{F}_p(x)$ no longer independent of the estimated density and derivatives, justifying the formula of boundary evaluation points.

Finally we consider the second order U-statistic component.

Lemma 4. Assume Assumptions 1 and 2 hold, $h \to 0$ and $nh \to \infty$. Then

$$\mathbb{V}[\hat{\mathbf{R}}] = \frac{2}{n^2 h} f(x) F(x) (1 - F(x)) \mathbf{T}_{p,x} + O(n^{-2}).$$

In particular, when x is in the boundary region, the above has order $O(n^{-2})$.

2.3 Main Results

In this section we provide two main results, one on asymptotic normality, and the other on standard error.

Theorem 1 (Asymptotic Normality). Assume Assumptions 1 and 2 hold with $\alpha_x \ge p+1$ for some integer $p \ge 0$. Further $h \to 0$, $nh^2 \to \infty$ and $nh^{2p+1} = O(1)$. Then

$$\sqrt{nh^{2v-1}} \Big(\hat{F}_{p}^{(v)}(x) - F^{(v)}(x) - h^{p+1-v} \mathcal{B}_{p,v}(x) \Big) \rightsquigarrow \mathcal{N}\Big(0, \ \mathcal{V}_{p,v}(x)\Big), \qquad 1 \le v \le p, \\\sqrt{\frac{n}{\mathcal{V}_{p,0}(x)}} \Big(\hat{F}_{p}(x) - F(x) - h^{p+1} \mathcal{B}_{p,0}(x) \Big) \rightsquigarrow \mathcal{N}\Big(0, \ 1\Big).$$

The constants are

$$\mathcal{B}_{p,v}(x) = v! \frac{F^{(p+1)}(x)}{(p+1)!} \mathbf{e}'_{v} \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{c}_{p,x},$$

and

$$\mathcal{V}_{p,v}(x) = \begin{cases} (v!)^2 f(x) \mathbf{e}'_v \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{\Gamma}_{p,x} \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{e}_v & 1 \le v \le p \\ F(x)(1 - F(x)) & v = 0, x \text{ interior} \\ hf(x) \left(\mathbf{e}'_0 \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{\Gamma}_{p,x} \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{e}_0 + c \right) & v = 0, x = x_{\mathsf{L}} + ch \text{ or } x_{\mathsf{U}} - ch \end{cases}$$

Remark 1 (On $nh^{2p+1} = O(1)$). This condition ensures that higher order bias, after scaling, is asymptotically negligible.

Remark 2 (On $nh^2 \to \infty$). This condition ensures that the second order U-statistic, $\hat{\mathbf{R}}$, has smaller order compared to $\hat{\mathbf{L}}$. Note that this condition can be dropped for boundary x or when the parameter of interest is the CDF \hat{F}_p .

Now we provide a standard error, which is also boundary adaptive. Given the formula in Theorem 1, it is possible to estimate the asymptotic variance by plugging in unknown quantities regarding the data generating process. For example consider $\mathcal{V}_{p,1}(x)$ for the estimated density. Assume the researcher knows the location of the boundary $x_{\rm L}$ and $x_{\rm U}$, the matrices $\mathbf{S}_{p,x}$ and $\Gamma_{p,x}$ can be constructed with numerical integration, since they are related to features of the kernel function, not the data generating process. The unknown density f(x) can also be replaced by its estimate, as long as $p \geq 1$.

Another approach is to utilize the decomposition of the estimator, in particular the $\hat{\mathbf{L}}$ term. To

introduce our variance estimator, we make the following definitions.

$$\hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x} = \frac{1}{n} \mathbf{X}_h \mathbf{K}_h \mathbf{X}_n = \frac{1}{n} \sum_i \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_i - x}{h}\right) \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_i - x}{h}\right)' K_h(x_i - x)$$
$$\hat{\mathbf{\Gamma}}_{p,x} = \frac{1}{n^3} \sum_{i,j,k} \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_j - x}{h}\right) \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_k - x}{h}\right)' K_h(x_j - x) K_h(x_k - x) \left(\mathbbm{1}[x_i \le x_j] - \tilde{F}(x_j)\right) \left(\mathbbm{1}[x_i \le x_k] - \tilde{F}(x_k)\right).$$

Following is the main result regarding variance estimation. It is automatic and fully-adaptive, in the sense that no knowledge about the boundary location is needed.

Theorem 2 (Variance Estimation).

Assume Assumptions 1 and 2 hold with $\alpha_x \ge p+1$ for some integer $p \ge 0$. Further $h \to 0$, $nh^2 \to \infty$ and $nh^{2p+1} = O(1)$. Then

$$\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{p,v}(x) \equiv (v!)^2 \mathbf{e}'_v \mathbf{N}_x \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x}^{-1} \hat{\mathbf{\Gamma}}_{p,x} \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{N}_x \mathbf{e}_v \quad \to_{\mathbb{P}} \quad \mathcal{V}_{p,v}(x).$$

Define the standard error as

$$\hat{\sigma}_{p,v}(x) \equiv (v!) \sqrt{\frac{1}{nh^{2v}} \mathbf{e}'_v \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x}^{-1} \hat{\boldsymbol{\Gamma}}_{p,x} \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{e}_v},$$

then

$$\hat{\sigma}_{p,v}(x)^{-1} \Big(\hat{F}_p^{(v)}(x) - F^{(v)}(x) - h^{p+1-v} \mathcal{B}_{p,v}(x) \Big) \rightsquigarrow \mathcal{N} \Big(0, 1 \Big).$$

3 Bandwidth Selection

In this section we consider the problem of constructing MSE-optimal bandwidth for our local polynomial regression-based distribution estimators. We focus exclusively on the case $v \ge 1$, hence the object of interest will be either the density function or derivatives thereof. Valid bandwidth choice for the distribution function $\hat{F}_p(x)$ is also an interesting topic, but difficulty arises since it is estimated at the parametric rate. We will briefly mention MSE expansion of the estimated CDF at the end.

3.1 For Density and Derivatives Estimates $(v \ge 1)$

Consider some $1 \le v \le p$, the following lemma gives finer characterization of the bias.

Lemma 5. Assume Assumptions 1 and 2 hold with $\alpha_x \ge p+2$, $h \to 0$ and $nh^3 \to \infty$. Then the leading bias of $\hat{F}_p^{(v)}(x)$ is

$$h^{p+1-v}\mathcal{B}_{p,v}(x) = h^{p+1-v} \left\{ \frac{F^{(p+1)}(x)}{(p+1)!} v! \mathbf{e}'_v \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{c}_{p,x} + h\left(\frac{F^{(p+2)}(x)}{(p+2)!} + \frac{F^{(p+1)}(x)}{(p+1)!} \frac{F^{(2)}(x)}{f(x)}\right) v! \mathbf{e}'_v \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \tilde{\mathbf{c}}_{p,x} \right\}.$$

The above lemma is a refinement of Lemma 1 and 2, and characterizes the higher-order bias. To see its necessity, we note that when p - v is even and x is an interior evaluation point, the leading bias is zero. This is because $\mathbf{e}'_v \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{c}_{p,x}$ is zero, which is explained in Fan and Gijbels (1996). Except for rare cases such as $F^{(p+1)}(x) = 0$ or $F^{(p+2)}(x) = 0$, we have

Order of bias: $h^{p+1-v}\mathcal{B}_{p,v}(x) \asymp$

	p-v odd	even
x interior	h^{p+1-v}	h^{p+2-v}
boundary	h^{p+1-v}	h^{p+1-v}

Note that for boundary evaluation points, the leading bias never vanishes.

The leading variance is also characterized by Theorem 1, and we reproduce it here:

$$\frac{1}{nh^{2v-1}}\mathcal{V}_{p,v}(x) = \frac{1}{nh^{2v-1}}(v!)^2 f(x)\mathbf{e}'_v \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{\Gamma}_{p,x} \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{e}_v$$

The MSE-optimal bandwidth is defined as a minimizer of the following

$$h_{p,v}(x) = \arg\min_{h>0} \left[\frac{1}{nh^{2v-1}} \mathcal{V}_{p,v}(x) + h^{2p+2-2v} \mathcal{B}_{p,v}(x)^2 \right]$$

Given the discussion we had earlier on the bias, it is easy to see that the MSE-optimal bandwidth has the following asymptotic order:

Order of MSE-optimal bandwidth: $h_{p,v}(x) \approx$

	p - v odd	even
x interior	$n^{-\frac{1}{2p+1}}$	$n^{-\frac{1}{2p+3}}$
boundary	$n^{-\frac{1}{2p+1}}$	$n^{-\frac{1}{2p+1}}$

Again only the case where p - v is even and x is interior needs special attention.

There are two notions of bandwidth consistency. Let h be some non-stochastic bandwidth sequence, and \hat{h} be an estimated bandwidth. Then \hat{h} is consistent in rate if $\hat{h} \simeq h$ (in most cases it is even true that $\hat{h}/h \rightarrow_{\mathbb{P}} C \in (0, \infty)$). And \hat{h} is consistent in rate and constant if $\hat{h}/h \rightarrow_{\mathbb{P}} 1$.

To construct consistent bandwidth, either rate consistent or consistent in both rate and constant, we need estimates of both the bias and variance. The variance part is relatively easy, as we have already demonstrated in Theorem 2:

$$n\ell^{2\nu-1}\frac{\hat{\sigma}_{p,\nu}(x)^2}{\mathcal{V}_{p,\nu}(x)} \to_{\mathbb{P}} 1,$$

where ℓ is some preliminary bandwidth used to construct $\hat{\sigma}_{p,v}(x)$.

To introduce our bias estimate, first assume there are consistent estimators for $F^{(p+1)}(x)$ and $F^{(p+2)}(x)$, denoted by $\hat{F}^{(p+1)}(x)$ and $\hat{F}^{(p+2)}(x)$. They can be obtained, for example, using our local polynomial regression-based approach, or can be constructed with some reference model (such as the normal distribution). The critical step is to obtain consistent estimators of the matrices, which are given in the following lemma.

Lemma 6. Assume Assumptions 1 and 2 hold, $\ell \to 0$ and $n\ell \to \infty$. Then

$$\widehat{\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}\mathbf{c}_{p,x}} = \left(\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{\ell}\right)\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{\ell}\right)'K_{\ell}(x_{i}-x)\right)^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{\ell}\right)^{p+1}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{\ell}\right)K_{\ell}(x_{i}-x)\right)$$
$$\rightarrow_{\mathbb{P}}\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}\mathbf{c}_{p,x},$$

and

$$\widehat{\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}\tilde{\mathbf{c}}_{p,x}} = \left(\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{\ell}\right)\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{\ell}\right)'K_{\ell}(x_{i}-x)\right)^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{\ell}\right)^{p+2}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{\ell}\right)K_{\ell}(x_{i}-x)\right)$$
$$\rightarrow_{\mathbb{P}}\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}\tilde{\mathbf{c}}_{p,x}.$$

Note that we used different notation, ℓ , as it corresponds to a preliminary bandwidth. Define

$$h^{p+1-v}\hat{\mathcal{B}}_{p,v}(x) = h^{p+1-v} \left\{ \frac{\hat{F}^{(p+1)}(x)}{(p+1)!} v! \mathbf{e}'_{v} \widehat{\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{c}_{p,x}} + h \frac{\hat{F}^{(p+2)}(x)}{(p+2)!} v! \mathbf{e}'_{v} \widehat{\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{c}_{p,x}} \right\},$$

and assume that $\hat{\sigma}_{p,v}(x)$ is constructed using the preliminary bandwidth ℓ . Then

$$\hat{h}_{p,v}(x) = \arg\min_{h>0} \left[\frac{\ell^{2v-1}}{h^{2v-1}} \hat{\sigma}_{p,v}(x)^2 + h^{2p+2-2v} \hat{\mathcal{B}}_{p,v}(x)^2 \right]$$

We make some remarks here.

Remark 3 (Preliminary bandwidth ℓ). The optimization argument h enters the RHS of the previous display in three places. First it is part of the variance component, by $1/h^{2v-1}$. Second it shows as a multiplicative factor of the bias component, $h^{2p-2v+2}$. Finally within the definition of $\hat{\mathcal{B}}_{p,v}(x)$, there is another multiplicative h, in front of the higher order bias.

The preliminary bandwidth ℓ , serves a different role. It is used to estimate the variance and bias components. Of course one can use different preliminary bandwidths for $\hat{\sigma}_{p,v}(x)$, $\widehat{\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}\mathbf{c}_{p,x}}$ and $\widehat{\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}\mathbf{c}_{p,x}}$.

Remark 4 (Consistent bias estimator). The bias estimator we proposed, $h^{p-v+1}\hat{\mathcal{B}}_{p,v}(x)$, is consistent in rate for the true leading bias, but not necessarily in constant. Compare $\hat{\mathcal{B}}_{p,v}(x)$ and $\mathcal{B}_{p,v}(x)$, it is easily seen that the term involving $F^{(p+1)}(x)F^{(2)}(x)/f(x)$ is not captured. To capture this term, we need one additional nonparametric estimator for $F^{(2)}(x)$. This is indeed feasible, and one can employ our local polynomial regression-based estimator for this purpose.

Theorem 3 (Consistent bandwidth). Let $1 \leq v \leq p$. Assume the preliminary bandwidth ℓ is chosen such that $nh^{2v-1}\hat{\sigma}_{p,v}(x)^2/\mathcal{V}_{p,v}(x) \rightarrow_{\mathbb{P}} 1$, $\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}\mathbf{c}_{p,x} \rightarrow_{\mathbb{P}} \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}\mathbf{c}_{p,x}$, and $\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}\tilde{\mathbf{c}}_{p,x} \rightarrow_{\mathbb{P}} \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}\tilde{\mathbf{c}}_{p,x}$. Under the conditions of Lemma 1 and Theorem 2:

• If either x is in boundary regions or p - v is odd, let $\hat{F}^{(p+1)}(x)$ be consistent for $F^{(p+1)} \neq 0$. Then

$$\frac{\hat{h}_{p,v}(x)}{h_{p,v}(x)} \to_{\mathbb{P}} 1$$

• If x is in interior and p - v is even, let $\hat{F}^{(p+2)}(x)$ be consistent for $F^{(p+2)} \neq 0$. Further assume $nh^3 \to 0$ and $h_{p,v}(x)$ is well-defined. Then

$$\frac{\hat{h}_{p,v}(x)}{h_{p,v}(x)} \to_{\mathbb{P}} C \in (0,\infty).$$

3.2 For CDF Estimate (v = 0)

In this subsection we mention briefly how to choose bandwidth for the CDF estimate, $\hat{F}_p^{(0)}(x) \equiv \hat{F}_p(x)$. We assume x is in interior. Previous discussions on bias remains to apply:

$$h^{p+1}\mathcal{B}_{p,0}(x) = h^{p+1}\left\{\frac{F^{(p+1)}(x)}{(p+1)!}\mathbf{e}_{0}'\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}\mathbf{c}_{p,x} + h\left(\frac{F^{(p+2)}(x)}{(p+2)!} + \frac{F^{(p+1)}(x)}{(p+1)!}\frac{F^{(2)}(x)}{f(x)}\right)\mathbf{e}_{0}'\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}\tilde{\mathbf{c}}_{p,x}\right\},$$

which means the bias of $\hat{F}_p(x)$ has order h^{p+1} if either x is boundary or p is odd, and h^{p+2} otherwise. Difficulty arises since the CDF estimator has leading variance of order

$$\mathcal{V}_{p,0}(x) \asymp \frac{\mathbb{1}[x \text{ interior}] + h}{n},$$

which cannot be used for bandwidth selection, because the above is proportional to the bandwidth (i.e., there is no bias-variance trade-off).

The trick is to use a higher order variance term. Recall that the local polynomial regressionbased estimator is essentially a second order U-statistic, which is then decomposed into two terms, a linear term $\hat{\mathbf{L}}$ and a quadratic term $\hat{\mathbf{R}}$, where the latter is a degenerate second-order U-statistic. The variance of the quadratic term $\hat{\mathbf{R}}$ has been ignored so far, as it is negligible compared to the variance of the linear term. For the CDF estimator, however, it is the variance of this quadratic term that leads to a bias-variance trade-off. The exact form of this variance is given in Lemma 4. With this additional variance term included, we have (with some abuse of notation)

$$\mathcal{V}_{p,0}(x) \asymp \frac{\mathbbm{1}[x \text{ interior}] + h}{n} + \frac{\mathbbm{1}[x \text{ interior}] + h}{n^2 h}.$$

Provided x is an interior point, the additional variance term increases as the bandwidth shrinks. As a result, a MSE-optimal bandwidth for $\hat{F}_p(x)$ is well-defined, and estimating this bandwidth is also straightforward.

	p-v odd	even
x interior	$n^{-\frac{2}{2p+3}}$	$n^{-\frac{2}{2p+5}}$
boundary	undefined	undefined

Order of MSE-optimal bandwidth: $h_{p,0}(x) \approx$

What if x is in a boundary region? Then the MSE-optimal bandwidth for $\hat{F}_p(x)$ is not well defined. The leading variance now takes the form $h/n+1/n^2$, which is proportional to the bandwidth. (This is not surprising, since for boundary x the CDF is known, and a very small bandwidth gives a super-consistent estimator.). Although MSE-optimal bandwidth for $\hat{F}_p(x)$ is not well-defined for boundary x, it is still feasible to minimize the empirical MSE. To see how this works, one first estimate the bias term and variance term with some preliminary bandwidth ℓ , leading to $\hat{\mathcal{B}}_{p,0}(x)$ and $\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{p,0}(x)$. Then the MSE-optimal bandwidth can be constructed by minimizing the empirical MSE. Under regularity conditions, $\hat{\mathcal{B}}_{p,0}(x)$ will converge to some nonzero constant, while, if x is boundary, $\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{p,0}(x)$ has order ℓ , the same as the preliminary bandwidth. Then the MSE-optimal bandwidth constructed in this way will have the following order:

	p-v odd	even
x interior	$n^{-rac{2}{2p+3}}$	$n^{-rac{2}{2p+5}}$
boundary	$(n^2/\ell)^{-\frac{1}{2p+3}}$	$(n^2/\ell)^{-\frac{1}{2p+5}}$

Order of estimated MSE-optimal bandwidth: $\hat{h}_{p,0}(x) \approx$

Note that the preliminary bandwidth enters the rate of $\hat{h}_{p,0}(x)$ for boundary x, because it determines the rate at which the variance estimator $\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{p,0}(x)$ vanishes. Although this estimated bandwidth is not consistent for any well-defined object, it can be useful in practice, and it reflects the fact that for boundary x it is appropriate to use bandwidth shrinks fast when the object of interest is the CDF

4 Application to Manipulation Testing

We devote this section to density discontinuity (manipulation) tests in regression discontinuity designs. Assume there is a natural (and known) partition of the support $\mathcal{X} = [x_{\mathrm{L}}, x_{\mathrm{U}}] = [x_{\mathrm{L}}, \bar{x}] \cup [\bar{x}, x_{\mathrm{U}}] = \mathcal{X}_{-} \cup \mathcal{X}_{+}$, and the regularity conditions we imposed so far are satisfied on each of the partitions, \mathcal{X}_{-} and \mathcal{X}_{+} . To be precise, assume the distribution F is continuously differentiable to a certain order on each of the partitions, but the derivatives are not necessarily continuous across the cutoff \bar{x} . In this case consistent estimates of the densities (and derivatives thereof) require fitting local polynomials separately on each sides of \bar{x} . Alternatively, one can use the joint estimation framework introduced below.

4.1 Unrestricted Model

By an unrestricted model with cutoff \bar{x} , we consider the following polynomial basis \mathbf{r}_p

$$\mathbf{r}_p(u) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{1}_{\{u<0\}} & u\mathbf{1}_{\{u<0\}} & \cdots & u^p\mathbf{1}_{\{u<0\}} & \middle| & \mathbf{1}_{\{u\geq0\}} & u\mathbf{1}_{\{u\geq0\}} & \cdots & u^p\mathbf{1}_{\{u\geq0\}} \end{bmatrix}' \in \mathbb{R}^{2p+2}.$$

The following two vectors will arise later, which we give the definition here:

$$\mathbf{r}_{-,p}(u) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & u & \cdots & u^p & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}', \quad \mathbf{r}_{+,p}(u) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 1 & \cdots & u^p \end{bmatrix}'.$$

Also we define the vectors to extract the corresponding derivatives

$$\mathbf{I}_{2p+2} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{e}_{0,-} & \mathbf{e}_{1,-} & \cdots & \mathbf{e}_{p,-} & \mathbf{e}_{0,+} & \mathbf{e}_{1,+} & \cdots & \mathbf{e}_{p,+} \end{bmatrix}.$$

With the above definition, the estimator at the cutoff is¹

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_p(\bar{x}) = \arg\min_{\mathbf{b}\in\mathbb{R}^{2p+2}}\sum_i \left(\tilde{F}(x_i) - \mathbf{r}_p(x_i - \bar{x})'\mathbf{b}\right)^2 K_h(x_i - \bar{x})$$

We assume the same bandwidth is used below and above the cutoff to avoid cumbersome notation. Generalizing to using different bandwidths is straightforward. Other notations (for example \mathbf{X} and

¹The EDF is defined with the whole sample as before: $\tilde{F}(u) = n^{-1} \sum_{i} \mathbb{1}[x_i \leq u]$.

 \mathbf{X}_h) are redefined similarly, with the scaling matrix \mathbf{H} adjusted so that $\mathbf{H}^{-1}\mathbf{r}_p(u) = \mathbf{r}_p(h^{-1}u)$ is always true. we denote the estimates by

$$\hat{F}_{p}^{(v)}(\bar{x}-) = v! \mathbf{e}_{v,-}' \hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_{p}(\bar{x}), \qquad \hat{F}_{p}^{(v)}(\bar{x}+) = v! \mathbf{e}_{v,+}' \hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_{p}(\bar{x}).$$

Remark 5 (Separate estimation). An alternative implementation is to apply our local polynomialbased estimator separately to the two samples, one with observations below the cutoff, and the other with observations above the cutoff. To be precise, let $\tilde{F}_{-}(\cdot)$ and $\tilde{F}_{+}(\cdot)$ be the empirical distribution functions constructed by the two samples. That is,

$$\tilde{F}_{-}(x) = \frac{1}{n_{-}} \sum_{i: \ x_{i} < \bar{x}} \mathbb{1}[x_{i} \le x], \qquad \tilde{F}_{+}(x) = \frac{1}{n_{+}} \sum_{i: \ x_{i} \ge \bar{x}} \mathbb{1}[x_{i} \le x],$$

where n_{-} and n_{+} denote the size of the two samples, respectively. The the local polynomial approach, applied to $\tilde{F}_{-}(\cdot)$ and $\tilde{F}_{+}(\cdot)$ separately, will yield two sets of estimates, which we denote by $\hat{F}_{p,-}^{(v)}(\bar{x})$ and $\hat{F}_{p,+}^{(v)}(\bar{x})$. To see the relation between joint and separate estimations, we note the following (which can be easily seen using least squares algebra)

$$v = 0 \qquad \hat{F}_{p,-}(\bar{x}) = \frac{n}{n_-} \hat{F}_p(\bar{x}-), \qquad \hat{F}_{p,+}(\bar{x}) = \frac{n}{n_+} \hat{F}_p(\bar{x}+) - \frac{n_-}{n_+}$$
$$v \ge 1 \qquad \hat{F}_{p,-}^{(v)}(\bar{x}) = \frac{n}{n_-} \hat{F}_p^{(v)}(\bar{x}-), \quad \hat{F}_{p,+}^{(v)}(\bar{x}) = \frac{n}{n_+} \hat{F}_p^{(v)}(\bar{x}+).$$

The difference comes from the fact that by separate estimation, one obtains estimates of the conditional CDF and the derivatives. \parallel

In the following lemmas, we will give asymptotic results for the joint estimation problem. Proofs are omitted.

Lemma 7. Let Assumptions of Lemma 1 hold separately on \mathcal{X}_{-} and \mathcal{X}_{+} , then

$$\frac{1}{n}\mathbf{X}_{h}'\mathbf{K}_{h}\mathbf{X}_{h} = f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p} + f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + O\left(h\right) + O_{\mathbb{P}}\left(1/\sqrt{nh}\right),$$

where

$$\mathbf{S}_{-,p} = \int_{-1}^{0} \mathbf{r}_{-,p}(u) \mathbf{r}_{-,p}(u)' K(u) du, \qquad \mathbf{S}_{+,p} = \int_{0}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{+,p}(u) \mathbf{r}_{+,p}(u)' K(u) du$$

Again we decompose the estimator into four terms, namely \hat{B}_{LI} , \hat{B}_{S} , \hat{L} and \hat{R} .

Lemma 8. Let Assumptions of Lemma 2 hold separately on \mathcal{X}_{-} and \mathcal{X}_{+} , then

$$\hat{\mathbf{B}}_{\mathbf{S}} = h^{p+1} \left\{ \frac{F^{(p+1)}(\bar{x})f(\bar{x})}{(p+1)!} \mathbf{c}_{-,p} + \frac{F^{(p+1)}(\bar{x}+)f(x+)}{(p+1)!} \mathbf{c}_{+,p} \right\} + o_{\mathbb{P}}(h^{p+1}), \qquad \hat{\mathbf{B}}_{\mathsf{LI}} = O_{\mathbb{P}}\left(\frac{1}{n}\right)$$

where

$$\mathbf{c}_{-,p} = \int_{-1}^{0} u^{p+1} \mathbf{r}_{-,p}(u) K(u) du, \qquad \mathbf{c}_{+,p} = \int_{0}^{1} u^{p+1} \mathbf{r}_{+,p}(u) K(u) du.$$

Lemma 9. Let Assumptions of Lemma 3 hold separately on \mathcal{X}_{-} and \mathcal{X}_{+} , then

$$\mathbb{V}\left[\sqrt{\frac{n}{h}}\left(\mathbf{e}_{1,+}-\mathbf{e}_{1,-}\right)'\left(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p}+f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p}\right)^{-1}\hat{\mathbf{L}}\right] = f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{e}_{1,-}'\mathbf{S}_{-,p}^{-1}\mathbf{\Gamma}_{-,p}\mathbf{S}_{-,p}^{-1}\mathbf{e}_{1,-} + f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{e}_{1,+}'\mathbf{S}_{+,p}^{-1}\mathbf{\Gamma}_{+,p}\mathbf{S}_{+,p}^{-1}\mathbf{e}_{1,+} + O(h),$$

where

$$\mathbf{\Gamma}_{-,p} = \iint_{[-1,0]^2} (u \wedge v) \mathbf{r}_{-,p}(u) \mathbf{r}_{-,p}(v)' K(u) K(v) \, \mathrm{d}u \mathrm{d}v, \quad \mathbf{\Gamma}_{+,p} = \iint_{[0,1]^2} (u \wedge v) \mathbf{r}_{+,p}(u) \mathbf{r}_{+,p}(v)' K(u) K(v) \, \mathrm{d}u \mathrm{d}v.$$

Note that the above gives the asymptotic variance of the difference $\hat{f}(\bar{x}+) - \hat{f}(\bar{x}-)$, and the variance takes an additive form. This is not surprising, since the two density estimates, $\hat{f}(\bar{x}+)$ and $\hat{f}(\bar{x}-)$, rely on distinctive subsamples, meaning that they are asymptotically independent.

Finally the order of $\hat{\mathbf{R}}$ can also be established.

Lemma 10. Let Assumptions of Lemma 4 hold separately on \mathcal{X}_{-} and \mathcal{X}_{+} , then

$$\hat{\mathbf{R}} = O_{\mathbb{P}}\left(\sqrt{\frac{1}{n^2 h}}\right).$$

Now we state the main result concerning the manipulation testing. Let $\mathbf{S}_{p,\bar{x}}$ and $\mathbf{\Gamma}_{p,\bar{x}}$ be constructed as in Section 2.3, and

$$\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{p,1}(\bar{x}) = \frac{1}{h} (\mathbf{e}_{1,+} - \mathbf{e}_{1,-})' \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,\bar{x}} \hat{\Gamma}_{p,\bar{x}} \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,\bar{x}} (\mathbf{e}_{1,+} - \mathbf{e}_{1,-}).$$

Corollary 1. Assume Assumptions 1 and 2 hold separately on \mathcal{X}_{-} and \mathcal{X}_{+} with $\alpha_x \ge p+1$ for some integer $p \ge 1$. Further, $n \cdot h^2 \to \infty$ and $n \cdot h^{2p+1} \to 0$. Then under the null hypothesis $\mathsf{H}_0: f(\bar{x}_{+}) = f(\bar{x}_{-}),$

$$T_p(h) = \frac{\hat{f}_p(\bar{x}+) - \hat{f}_p(\bar{x}-)}{\sqrt{\frac{1}{nh}\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{p,1}(\bar{x})}} \rightsquigarrow \mathcal{N}(0,1).$$

As a result, under the alternative hypothesis $H_1: f(\bar{x}+) \neq f(\bar{x}-)$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{P}[|T_p(h)| \ge \Phi_{1-\alpha/2}] = 1.$$

Here $\Phi_{1-\alpha/2}$ is the $(1-\alpha/2)$ -quantile of the standard normal distribution.

Remark 6 (Separate estimation). Recall that it is possible to implement our local polynomial estimator separately for the two subsamples, below and above the cutoff \bar{x} . Let $\hat{f}_{p,-}(\bar{x})$ and $\hat{f}_{p,+}(\bar{x})$ be the two density estimates, and $\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{p,1,-}(\bar{x})$ and $\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{p,1,+}(\bar{x})$ be the associated variance estimates. Then the test statistic is equivalently:

$$T_p(h) = \frac{\frac{n_+}{n}\hat{f}_{p,+}(\bar{x}) - \frac{n_-}{n}\hat{f}_{p,-}(\bar{x})}{\sqrt{\frac{1}{nh}\left(\frac{n_+}{n}\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{p,1,+}(\bar{x}) + \frac{n_-}{n}\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{p,1,-}(\bar{x})\right)}}$$

4.2 Restricted Model

In the previous subsection, we gave a test procedure on the discontinuity of the density by estimating on the two sides of the cutoff separately. This procedure is flexible and requires minimum assumptions. There are ways, however, to improve the power of the test when the densities are estimated with additional assumptions on the smoothness of the CDF

In a restricted model, the polynomial basis is re-defined as

$$\mathbf{r}_p(u) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & u\mathbf{1}(u < 0) & u\mathbf{1}(u \ge 0) & u^2 & u^3 & \cdots & u^p \end{bmatrix}' \in \mathbb{R}^{p+2},$$

and the estimator in the fully restricted model is

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_{p}(\bar{x}) = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{F}_{p}(\bar{x}) & \hat{f}_{p}(\bar{x}-) & \hat{f}_{p}(\bar{x}+) & \frac{1}{2}\hat{F}_{p}^{(2)}(\bar{x}) & \cdots & \frac{1}{p!}\hat{F}_{p}^{(p)}(\bar{x}) \end{bmatrix}' = \arg\max_{\mathbf{b}\in\mathbb{R}^{p+2}}\sum_{i}\left(\tilde{F}(x_{i}) - \mathbf{r}_{p}(x_{i}-\bar{x})'\mathbf{b}\right)^{2}K_{h}(x_{i}-\bar{x})$$

Again the notations (for example **X** and **X**_h) are redefined similarly, with the scaling matrix **H** adjusted to ensure $\mathbf{H}^{-1}\mathbf{r}_p(u) = \mathbf{r}_p(h^{-1}u)$. Here $\hat{F}_p(\bar{x})$ is the estimated CDF and $\frac{1}{2}\hat{F}_p^{(2)}(\bar{x}), \cdots, \frac{1}{p!}\hat{F}_p^{(p)}(\bar{x})$ are the estimated higher order derivatives, which we assume are all continuous at \bar{x} , while $\hat{f}_p(\bar{x}-)$ and $\hat{f}_p(\bar{x}+)$ are the estimated densities on the two sides of \bar{x} . Therefore we call the above model restricted, since it only allows discontinuity of the first derivative of F (i.e. the density) but not the other derivatives.

With the modification of the polynomial basis, all other matrices in the previous subsection are redefined similarly, and

$$\mathbf{I}_{p+2} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{e}_0 & \mathbf{e}_{1,-} & \mathbf{e}_{1,+} & \mathbf{e}_2 & \cdots & \mathbf{e}_p \end{bmatrix}_{(p+2)\times(p+2)}$$

where the subscripts indicate the corresponding derivatives to extract. Moreover

$$\mathbf{r}_{-,p}(u) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & u & 0 & u^2 & \cdots & u^p \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \mathbf{r}_{+,p}(u) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & u & u^2 & \cdots & u^p \end{bmatrix}$$

Lemma 11. Let Assumptions of Lemma 1 hold with the exception that f may be discontinuous across \bar{x} , then

$$\frac{1}{n}\mathbf{X}_{h}'\mathbf{K}_{h}\mathbf{X}_{h} = \{f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p} + f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p}\} + O(h) + O_{\mathbb{P}}(1/\sqrt{nh}),$$

where

$$\mathbf{S}_{-,p} = \int_{-1}^{0} \mathbf{r}_{-,p}(u) \mathbf{r}_{-,p}(u)' K(u) du, \qquad \mathbf{S}_{+,p} = \int_{0}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{+,p}(u) \mathbf{r}_{+,p}(u)' K(u) du$$

Again we decompose the estimator into four terms, $\hat{\mathbf{B}}_{LI}$, $\hat{\mathbf{B}}_{S}$, $\hat{\mathbf{L}}$ and $\hat{\mathbf{R}}$, which correspond to leave-in bias, smoothing bias, linear variance and quadratic variance, respectively.

Lemma 12. Let Assumptions of Lemma 2 hold with the exception that f may be discontinuous across \bar{x} , then

$$\hat{\mathbf{B}}_{\mathbf{S}} = h^{p+1} \left\{ \frac{F^{(p+1)}(\bar{x})f(\bar{x})}{(p+1)!} \mathbf{c}_{-,p} + \frac{F^{(p+1)}(\bar{x}+)f(\bar{x}+)}{(p+1)!} \mathbf{c}_{+,p} \right\} + o_{\mathbb{P}}(h^{p+1}), \qquad \hat{\mathbf{B}}_{\mathrm{LI}} = O_{\mathbb{P}}\left(\frac{1}{n}\right), \tag{1}$$

where

$$\mathbf{c}_{-,p} = \int_{-1}^{0} u^{p+1} \mathbf{r}_{-,p}(u) K(u) \mathrm{d}u, \qquad \mathbf{c}_{+,p} = \int_{0}^{1} u^{p+1} \mathbf{r}_{+,p}(u) K(u) \mathrm{d}u.$$

Lemma 13. Let Assumptions of Lemma 3 hold with the exception that f may be discontinuous across \bar{x} , then

$$\mathbb{V}\left[\sqrt{\frac{n}{h}} \left(\mathbf{e}_{1,+} - \mathbf{e}_{1,-}\right)' \left(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p}\right)^{-1} \hat{\mathbf{L}}\right]$$

= $(\mathbf{e}_{1,+} - \mathbf{e}_{1,-})' (f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})^{-1} (f(\bar{x}+)^{3}\mathbf{\Gamma}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)^{3}\mathbf{\Psi}\mathbf{\Gamma}_{+,p}\mathbf{\Psi}) (f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})^{-1} (\mathbf{e}_{1,+} - \mathbf{e}_{1,-}) + O(h)$

where

$$\mathbf{\Gamma}_{-,p} = \iint_{[-1,0]^2} (u \wedge v) \mathbf{r}_{-,p}(u) \mathbf{r}_{-,p}(v)' K(u) K(v) \, \mathrm{d}u \mathrm{d}v, \quad \mathbf{\Gamma}_{+,p} = \iint_{[0,1]^2} (u \wedge v) \mathbf{r}_{+,p}(u) \mathbf{r}_{+,p}(v)' K(u) K(v) \, \mathrm{d}u \mathrm{d}v.$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\Psi} = \begin{bmatrix} (-1)^0 & & & & \\ & (-1)^1 & & & \\ & (-1)^1 & & & \\ & & (-1)^2 & & \\ & & & (-1)^3 & \\ & & & & \ddots \\ & & & & & (-1)^p \end{bmatrix}$$

Again we can show that the quadratic part is negligible.

Lemma 14. Let Assumptions of Lemma 4 hold with the exception that f may not be continuous across \bar{x} , then

$$\hat{\mathbf{R}} = O_{\mathbb{P}}\left(\sqrt{\frac{1}{n^2 h}}\right).$$

Now we state the main result concerning the manipulation testing. Let $\hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,\bar{x}}$ and $\hat{\mathbf{\Gamma}}_{p,\bar{x}}$ be constructed as in Section 2.3, and

$$\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{p,1}(\bar{x}) = rac{1}{h} (\mathbf{e}_{1,+} - \mathbf{e}_{1,-})' \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,\bar{x}} \hat{\mathbf{\Gamma}}_{p,\bar{x}} \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,\bar{x}} (\mathbf{e}_{1,+} - \mathbf{e}_{1,-}).$$

Corollary 2. Assume Assumptions 1 and 2 hold separately on \mathcal{X}_{-} and \mathcal{X}_{+} with $\alpha_{x} \geq p+1$ for some integer $p \geq 1$. Further, $n \cdot h^{2} \to \infty$ and $n \cdot h^{2p+1} \to 0$. Then under the null hypothesis $H_{0}: f(\bar{x}_{+}) = f(\bar{x}_{-}),$

$$T_p(h) = \frac{\hat{f}_p(\bar{x}+) - \hat{f}_p(\bar{x}-)}{\sqrt{\frac{1}{nh}\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{p,1}(\bar{x})}} \rightsquigarrow \mathcal{N}(0,1).$$

As a result, under the alternative hypothesis $H_1: f(\bar{x}+) \neq f(\bar{x}-)$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{P}[|T_p(h)| \ge \Phi_{1-\alpha/2}] = 1.$$

Here $\Phi_{1-\alpha/2}$ is the $(1-\alpha/2)$ -quantile of the standard normal distribution.

5 Other Standard Error Estimators

The standard error $\hat{\sigma}_{p,v}(x)$ (see Theorem 2) is fully automatic and adapts to both interior and boundary regions. In this section we consider two other ways to construct a standard error.

5.1 Plug-in Standard Error

Take $v \ge 1$. Then the asymptotic variance of $\hat{F}_p^{(v)}(x)$ takes the following form:

$$\mathcal{V}_{p,v}(x) = (v!)^2 f(x) \mathbf{e}'_v \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{\Gamma}_{p,x} \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{e}_v.$$

One way of constructing estimate of the above quantity is to plug-in a consistent estimator of f(x), which is simply the estimated density. Hence we can use

$$\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{p,v}(x) = (v!)^2 \hat{f}_p(x) \mathbf{e}'_v \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{p,x} \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{e}_v.$$

The next question is how $\mathbf{S}_{p,x}$ and $\mathbf{\Gamma}_{p,x}$ should be constructed. Note that they are related to the kernel, evaluation point x and the bandwidth h, but *not* the data generating process. Therefore the three matrices can be constructed by either analytical integration or numerical method.

5.2 Jackknife-based Standard Error

The standard error $\hat{\sigma}_{p,v}(x)$ is obtained by inspecting the asymptotic linear representation. It is fully automatic and adapts to both interior and boundaries. In this part, we present another standard error which resembles $\hat{\sigma}_{p,v}(x)$, albeit with a different motivation.

Recall that $\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_p(x)$ is essentially a second order U-statistic, and the following expansion is justified:

$$\frac{1}{n}\mathbf{X}_{h}'\mathbf{K}_{h}\left(\mathbf{Y}-\mathbf{X}\boldsymbol{\beta}_{p}(x)\right) = \frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\left(\tilde{F}(x_{i})-\mathbf{r}_{p}(x_{i}-x)'\boldsymbol{\beta}_{p}(x)\right)K_{h}(x_{i}-x) \\
= \frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\left(\frac{1}{n-1}\sum_{j;j\neq i}\left(\mathbb{1}(x_{j}\leq x_{i})-\mathbf{r}_{p}(x_{i}-x)'\boldsymbol{\beta}_{p}(x)\right)\right)K_{h}(x_{i}-x)+O_{\mathbb{P}}\left(\frac{1}{n}\right) \\
= \frac{1}{n(n-1)}\sum_{i,j;i\neq j}\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\left(\mathbb{1}(x_{j}\leq x_{i})-\mathbf{r}_{p}(x_{i}-x)'\boldsymbol{\beta}_{p}(x)\right)K_{h}(x_{i}-x)+O_{\mathbb{P}}\left(\frac{1}{n}\right),$$

where the remainder represents leave-in bias. Note that the above could be written as a U-statistic, and to apply the Hoeffding decomposition, define

$$\mathbf{U}(x_i, x_j) = \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_i - x}{h}\right) \left(\mathbbm{1}(x_j \le x_i) - \mathbf{r}_p(x_i - x)'\boldsymbol{\beta}_p(x)\right) K_h(x_i - x) + \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_j - x}{h}\right) \left(\mathbbm{1}(x_i \le x_j) - \mathbf{r}_p(x_j - x)'\boldsymbol{\beta}_p(x)\right) K_h(x_j - x),$$

which is symmetric in its two arguments. Then

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{n} \mathbf{X}_h' \mathbf{K}_h \left(\mathbf{Y} - \mathbf{X} \boldsymbol{\beta}_p(x) \right) &= \mathbb{E} \left[\mathbf{U}(x_i, x_j) \right] + \frac{1}{n} \sum_i \left(\mathbf{U}_1(x_i) - \mathbb{E} \left[\mathbf{U}(x_i, x_j) \right] \right) \\ &+ \binom{n}{2}^{-1} \sum_{i,j;i < j} \left(\mathbf{U}(x_i, x_j) - \mathbf{U}_1(x_i) - \mathbf{U}_1(x_j) + \mathbb{E} \left[\mathbf{U}(x_i, x_j) \right] \right). \end{split}$$

Here $\mathbf{U}_1(x_i) = \mathbb{E}[\mathbf{U}(x_i, x_j) | x_i]$. The second line in the above display is the analogue of $\hat{\mathbf{L}}$, which contributes to the leading variance, and the third line is negligible. The new standard error, we call the jackknife-based standard error, is given by the following:

$$\hat{\sigma}_{p,v}^{(\mathrm{JK})}(x) \equiv (v!) \sqrt{\frac{1}{nh^{2v}}} \mathbf{e}_v' \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x}^{-1} \hat{\boldsymbol{\Gamma}}_{p,x}^{\mathrm{JK}} \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{e}_v$$

with

$$\hat{\mathbf{\Gamma}}_{p,x}^{\mathsf{JK}} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i} \left(\frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{j;j \neq i} \hat{\mathbf{U}}(x_i, x_j) \right) \left(\frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{j;j \neq i} \hat{\mathbf{U}}(x_i, x_j) \right)' - \left(\binom{n}{2}^{-1} \sum_{i,j;i \neq j} \hat{\mathbf{U}}(x_i, x_j) \right) \left(\binom{n}{2}^{-1} \sum_{i,j;i \neq j} \hat{\mathbf{U}}(x_i, x_j) \right)',$$

and

$$\hat{\mathbf{U}}(x_i, x_j) = \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_i - x}{h}\right) \left(\mathbb{1}(x_j \le x_i) - \mathbf{r}_p(x_i - x)'\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_p(x)\right) K_h(x_i - x) + \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_j - x}{h}\right) \left(\mathbb{1}(x_i \le x_j) - \mathbf{r}_p(x_j - x)'\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_p(x)\right) K_h(x_j - x)$$

The name jackknife comes from the fact that we use leave-one-out "estimator" for $\mathbf{U}_1(x_i)$: with x_i fixed,

$$\overset{\text{``}}{\frac{1}{n-1}} \sum_{j; j \neq i} \hat{\mathbf{U}}(x_i, x_j) \to_{\mathbb{P}} \mathbf{U}_1(x_i)^{"}.$$

Under the same conditions specified in Theorem 2, one can show that the jackknife-based standard error is consistent.

6 Simulation Study

6.1 DGP 1: Truncated Normal Distribution

In this subsection, we conduct simulation study based on truncated normal distribution. To be more specific, the underlying distribution of x_i is the standard normal distribution truncated below at -0.8. Therefore,

$$G(x) = F(x) = \frac{\Phi(x) - \Phi(-0.8)}{1 - \Phi(-0.8)}, \qquad x \ge -0.8,$$

and zero otherwise. Equivalently, x_i has Lebesgue density $\Phi^{(1)}(x)/(1-\Phi(-0.8))$ on $[-0.8,\infty]$.

In this simulation study, the target parameter is the density function evaluated at various points. Note that both the variance and the bias of our estimator depend on the evaluation point, and in particular, the magnitude of the bias depends on higher order derivatives of the distribution function.

- 1. Evaluation point. We estimate the density at $x \in \{-0.8, -0.5, 0.5, 1.5\}$. Note that -0.8 is the boundary point, where classical density estimators such as the kernel density estimator has high bias. The point -0.5, given our bandwidth choice, is fairly close to the boundary, hence should be understood as in the lower boundary region. The two points 0.5 and 1.5 are interior, but the curvature of the normal density is quite different at those two points, and we expect to see the estimators having different bias behaviors.
- 2. Polynomial order. We consider $p \in \{2, 3\}$. For density estimation using our estimators, p = 2 should be the default choice, since it corresponds to estimating conditional mean with local linear regression. Such choice is also recommended by Fan and Gijbels (1996), according to which one should always choose p s = 2 1 = 1 to be an odd number. We include p = 3 for completeness.
- 3. Kernel function. For local polynomial regression, the choice of kernel function is usually not very important. We use the triangular kernel $k(u) = (1 |u|) \vee 0$.
- 4. Sample size. The sample size used consists of $n \in \{1000, 2000\}$. For most empirical studies employing nonparametric density estimation, the sample size is well above 1000, hence n = 2000 is more representative.

Overall, we have $4 \times 2 \times 2 = 16$ designs, and for each design, we conduct 5000 Monte Carlo repetitions.

We consider a grid of bandwidth choices, which correspond to multiples of the MSE-optimal bandwidth, ranging from $0.1h_{MSE}$ to $2h_{MSE}$. We also consider the estimated bandwidth. The MSE-optimal bandwidth, h_{MSE} , is chosen by minimizing the asymptotic mean squared error, using the true underlying distribution.

For each design, we report the empirical bias of the estimator, $\mathbb{E}[\hat{f}_p(x) - f(x)]$, under <u>bias</u>. And empirical standard deviations, $\mathbb{V}^{1/2}[\hat{f}_p(x)]$, and empirical root-MSE, under <u>sd</u> and $\sqrt{\text{mse}}$, respectively. For the standard errors constructed from the variance estimators, we report their empirical average under <u>mean</u>, which should be compared to <u>sd</u>. We also report the empirical rejection rate of t-statistics at 5% nominal level, under <u>size</u>. The t-statistic is $(\hat{f}_p(x) - \mathbb{E}\hat{f}_p(x))/\text{se}$, which is exactly centered, hence rejection rate thereof is a measure of accuracy of normal approximation.

6.2 DGP 2: Exponential Distribution

In this subsection, we conduct simulation study based on exponential distribution. To be more specific, the underlying distribution of x_i is $F(x) = 1 - e^{-x}$. Equivalently, x_i has Lebesgue density e^{-x} for $x \ge 0$.

In this simulation study, the target parameter is the density function evaluated at various points. Note that both the variance and the bias of our estimator depend on the evaluation point, and in particular, the magnitude of the bias depends on higher order derivatives of the distribution function.

- 1. Evaluation point. We estimate the density at $x \in \{0, 1, 1.5\}$. Note that 0 is the boundary point, where classical density estimators such as the kernel density estimator has high bias. The two points 1 and 1.5 are interior.
- 2. Polynomial order. We consider $p \in \{2, 3\}$. For density estimation using our estimators, p = 2 should be the default choice, since it corresponds to estimating conditional mean with local linear regression. Such choice is also recommended by Fan and Gijbels (1996), according to which one should always choose p s = 2 1 = 1 to be an odd number. We include p = 3 for completeness.
- 3. Kernel function. For local polynomial regression, the choice of kernel function is usually not very important. We use the triangular kernel $k(u) = (1 |u|) \vee 0$.
- 4. Sample size. The sample size used consists of $n \in \{1000, 2000\}$. For most empirical studies employing nonparametric density estimation, the sample size is well above 1000, hence n = 2000 is more representative.

Overall, we have $3 \times 2 \times 2 = 12$ designs, and for each design, we conduct 5000 Monte Carlo repetitions.

We consider a grid of bandwidth choices, which correspond to multiples of the MSE-optimal bandwidth, ranging from $0.1h_{MSE}$ to $2h_{MSE}$. We also consider the estimated bandwidth. The MSE-optimal bandwidth, h_{MSE} , is chosen by minimizing the asymptotic mean squared error, using the true underlying distribution.

For each design, we report the empirical bias of the estimator, $\mathbb{E}[\hat{f}_p(x) - f(x)]$, under <u>bias</u>. And empirical standard deviations, $\mathbb{V}^{1/2}[\hat{f}_p(x)]$, and empirical root-MSE, under <u>sd</u> and $\sqrt{\text{mse}}$, respectively. For the standard errors constructed from the variance estimators, we report their empirical average under <u>mean</u>, which should be compared to <u>sd</u>. We also report the empirical rejection rate of t-statistics at 5% nominal level, under <u>size</u>. The t-statistic is $(\hat{f}_p(x) - \mathbb{E}\hat{f}_p(x))/\text{se}$, which is exactly centered, hence rejection rate thereof is a measure of accuracy of normal approximation.

References

Fan, J., and Gijbels, I. (1996), Local Polynomial Modelling and Its Applications, New York: Chapman & Hall/CRC.

7 Proof

7.1 Proof of Lemma 1

Proof. A generic element of the matrix $\frac{1}{n} \mathbf{X}'_h \mathbf{K}_h \mathbf{X}_h$ takes the form:

$$\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\frac{1}{h}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)^{s}K\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right), \qquad 0 \le s \le 2p.$$

Then we compute the expectation:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\frac{1}{h}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)^{s}K\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{h}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)^{s}K\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\right]$$
$$= \int_{x_{\mathrm{L}}}^{x_{\mathrm{U}}}\frac{1}{h}\left(\frac{u-x}{h}\right)^{s}K\left(\frac{u-x}{h}\right)f(u)\mathrm{d}u = \int_{\frac{x_{\mathrm{L}}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{\mathrm{U}}-x}{h}}v^{s}K(v)f(x+vh)\mathrm{d}v = \int_{\frac{x_{\mathrm{L}}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{\mathrm{U}}-x}{h}}v^{s}K(v)f(x+vh)\mathrm{d}v,$$

hence for x in the interior,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\frac{1}{h}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)^{s}K\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\right] = f(x)\int_{\mathbb{R}}\mathbf{r}_{p}(v)\mathbf{r}_{p}(v)'K(v)\mathrm{d}v + o(1),$$

and for $x = x_{L} + ch$ with $c \in [0, 1]$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\frac{1}{h}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)^{s}K\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\right] = f(x_{L})\int_{-c}^{\infty}\mathbf{r}_{p}(v)\mathbf{r}_{p}(v)'K(v)\mathrm{d}v + o(1),$$

and for $x = x_{U} - ch$ with $c \in [0, 1]$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\frac{1}{h}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)^{s}K\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\right] = f(x_{U})\int_{-\infty}^{c}\mathbf{r}_{p}(v)\mathbf{r}_{p}(v)'K(v)\mathrm{d}v + o(1),$$

provided that $F \in \mathcal{C}^1$.

The variance satisfies

$$\mathbb{V}\left[\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i}\frac{1}{h}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)^{s}K\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\right] = \frac{1}{n}\mathbb{V}\left[\frac{1}{h}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)^{s}K\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\right]$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{n}\mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{h^{2}}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)^{2s}K\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)^{2}\right] = O\left(\frac{1}{nh}\right),$$

provided that $F \in \mathcal{C}^1$.

7.2 Proof of Lemma 2

Proof. First consider the smoothing bias. The leading term can be easily obtain by taking expectation together with Taylor expansion of F to power p + 1. The variance of this term has order $n^{-1}h^{-1}h^{2p+2}$, which gives the residual estimate $o_{\mathbb{P}}(h^{p+1})$ since it is assumed that $nh \to \infty$.

Next for the leave-in bias, note that it has expectation of order n^{-1} , and variance of order $n^{-3}h^{-1}$, hence overall this term of order $O_{\mathbb{P}}(n^{-1})$.

7.3 Proof of Lemma 3

Proof. We first compute the variance. Note that

$$\int_{\frac{x_{\mathrm{L}}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{\mathrm{U}}-x}{h}} \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(u\right) \left(\tilde{F}(x+hu) - F(x+hu)\right) K(u) f(x+hu) \mathrm{d}u$$
$$= \frac{1}{n} \int_{\frac{x_{\mathrm{L}}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{\mathrm{U}}-x}{h}} \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(u\right) \left(\mathbb{1}[x_{i} \leq x+hu] - F(x+hu)\right) K(u) f(x+hu) \mathrm{d}u,$$

and

$$\mathbb{V}\left[\int_{\frac{x_{\mathrm{L}}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{\mathrm{U}}-x}{h}} \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(u\right) \left(\mathbb{1}\left[x_{i} \leq x+hu\right]-F(x+hu)\right) K(u)f(x+hu)\mathrm{d}u\right]$$

$$= \iint_{\frac{x_{\mathrm{L}}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{\mathrm{U}}-x}{h}} \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(u\right) \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(v\right)' K(u)K(v)f(x+hu)f(x+hv)$$

$$\times \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\mathbb{1}\left[t \leq x+hu\right]-F(x+hu)\right) \left(\mathbb{1}\left[t \leq x+hv\right]-F(x+hv)\right)f(t)\mathrm{d}t\right] \mathrm{d}u\mathrm{d}v$$

$$= \iint_{\frac{x_{\mathrm{L}}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{\mathrm{U}}-x}{h}} \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(u\right) \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(v\right)' K(u)K(v)f(x+hu)f(x+hv) \left(F(x+h(u \wedge v))-F(x+hu)F(x+hv)\right) \mathrm{d}u\mathrm{d}v.$$
(I)

We first consider the interior case, where the above reduces to:

$$\begin{aligned} \text{(I)}_{\text{interior}} \\ &= \iint_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbf{r}_{p} \left(u \right) \mathbf{r}_{p} \left(v \right)' K(u) K(v) f(x)^{2} \Big(F(x) - F(x)^{2} \Big) \text{d}u \text{d}v \\ &+ h \iint_{\mathbb{R}} \left(u \wedge v \right) \mathbf{r}_{p} \left(u \right) \mathbf{r}_{p} \left(v \right)' K(u) K(v) f(x)^{3} \text{d}u \text{d}v \\ &- h \iint_{\mathbb{R}} \left(u + v \right) \mathbf{r}_{p} \left(u \right) \mathbf{r}_{p} \left(v \right)' K(u) K(v) f(x)^{3} F(x) \text{d}u \text{d}v \\ &+ h \iint_{\mathbb{R}} \left(u + v \right) \mathbf{r}_{p} \left(u \right) \mathbf{r}_{p} \left(v \right)' K(u) K(v) f(x) F^{(2)} \left(x \right) \Big(F(x) - F(x)^{2} \Big) \text{d}u \text{d}v + o(h) \end{aligned} \\ &= f(x)^{2} \Big(F(x) - F(x)^{2} \Big) \mathbf{S}_{p,x} \mathbf{e}_{0} \mathbf{e}_{0}' \mathbf{S}_{p,x} \\ &- h f(x)^{3} F(x) \mathbf{S}_{p,x} (\mathbf{e}_{1} \mathbf{e}_{0}' + \mathbf{e}_{0} \mathbf{e}_{1}') \mathbf{S}_{p,x} \\ &+ h f(x) F^{(2)} \left(x \right) \Big(F(x) - F(x)^{2} \Big) \mathbf{S}_{p,x} (\mathbf{e}_{1} \mathbf{e}_{0}' + \mathbf{e}_{0} \mathbf{e}_{1}') \mathbf{S}_{p,x} \\ &+ h f(x)^{3} \mathbf{\Gamma}_{p,x} + o(h). \end{aligned}$$

For $x = x_{L} + hc$ with $c \in [0, 1)$ in the lower boundary region,

$$(\mathbf{I})_{\text{lower boundary}} = h \iint_{\mathbb{R}} (u \wedge v + c) \mathbf{r}_p(u) \mathbf{r}_p(v)' K(u) K(v) f(x_{\text{L}})^3 \text{d}u \text{d}v + o(h) = h f(x_{\text{L}})^3 \left(\mathbf{\Gamma}_{p,x} + c \mathbf{S}_{p,x} \mathbf{e}_0 \mathbf{e}'_0 \mathbf{S}_{p,x} \right) + o(h).$$

Finally, we have

$$(\mathbf{I})_{\text{upper boundary}} = h \iint_{\mathbb{R}} (u \wedge v - c) \mathbf{r}_{p} (u) \mathbf{r}_{p} (v)' K(u) K(v) f(x_{U})^{3} du dv - h \iint_{\mathbb{R}} (u + v - 2c) \mathbf{r}_{p} (u) \mathbf{r}_{p} (v)' K(u) K(v) f(x_{U})^{3} du dv + o(h) = h f(x_{U})^{2} f(x_{U}) \left(\mathbf{\Gamma}_{p,x} + c \mathbf{S}_{p,x} \mathbf{e}_{0} \mathbf{e}'_{0} \mathbf{S}_{p,x} - \mathbf{S}_{p,x} (\mathbf{e}_{1} \mathbf{e}'_{0} + \mathbf{e}_{0} \mathbf{e}'_{1}) \mathbf{S}_{p,x} \right) + o(h).$$

With the above results, it is easy to verify the variance formula, provided that we can show the asymptotic normality. We first consider the interior case, and verify the Lindeberg condition on the fourth moment. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^{p+1}$ be an arbitrary nonzero vector, then

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{i} \mathbb{E} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} \boldsymbol{\alpha}' \mathbf{N}_{x}(f(x)\mathbf{S}_{p,x})^{-1} \int_{\frac{x_{\mathrm{L}}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{\mathrm{U}}-x}{h}} \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(u\right) \left(\mathbbm{1}[x_{i} \leq x+hu] - F(x+hu)\right) K(u)f(x+hu)\mathrm{d}u\right)^{4} \\ &= \frac{1}{n} \mathbb{E} \left(\boldsymbol{\alpha}' \mathbf{N}_{x}(f(x)\mathbf{S}_{p,x})^{-1} \int_{\frac{x_{\mathrm{L}}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{\mathrm{U}}-x}{h}} \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(u\right) \left(\mathbbm{1}[x_{i} \leq x+hu] - F(x+hu)\right) K(u)f(x+hu)\mathrm{d}u\right)^{4} \\ &= \frac{1}{n} \iiint_{\mathcal{A}} \prod_{j=1,2,3,4} \left(\boldsymbol{\alpha}' \mathbf{N}_{x}(f(x)\mathbf{S}_{p,x})^{-1} \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(u_{j}\right) K(u_{j}) \right) f(x+hu_{j}) \\ &\left[\int_{\mathbb{R}} \prod_{j=1,2,3,4} \left(\mathbbm{1}[t \leq x+hu_{j}] - F(x+hu_{j})\right) f(t)\mathrm{d}t \right] \mathrm{d}u_{1}\mathrm{d}u_{2}\mathrm{d}u_{3}\mathrm{d}u_{4} \\ &\leq \frac{C}{n} \cdot \iiint_{\mathcal{A}} \prod_{j=1,2,3,4} \left(\boldsymbol{\alpha}' \mathbf{N}_{x}(f(x)\mathbf{S}_{p,x})^{-1} \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(u_{j}\right) K(u_{j}) \right) f(x)\mathrm{d}u_{1}\mathrm{d}u_{2}\mathrm{d}u_{3}\mathrm{d}u_{4} + O\left(\frac{1}{nh}\right), \end{split}$$

where $\mathcal{A} = [\frac{x_{\mathrm{L}}-x}{h}, \frac{x_{\mathrm{U}}-x}{h}]^4 \subset \mathbb{R}^4$. The first term in the above display is asymptotically negligible, since it is takes the form $C \cdot (\boldsymbol{\alpha}' \mathbf{N}_x \mathbf{e}_0)^4 / n$ where the constant C depends on the DGP, and is finite. The order of the next term is 1/(nh), which comes from multiplying n^{-1} , h^{-2} (from the scaling matrix \mathbf{N}_x), and h (from linearization), hence is also negligible.

Under the assumption that $nh \to \infty$, the Lindeberg condition is verified for interior case. The same logic applies to the boundary case, whose proof is easier than the interior case, since the leading term in the calculation is identically zero for x in either the lower or upper boundary.

7.4 Proof of Lemma 4

Proof. For $\hat{\mathbf{R}}$, we rewrite it as a second order degenerate U-statistic:

$$\hat{\mathbf{R}} = \frac{1}{n^2} \sum_{i,j;i < j} \hat{\mathbf{U}}_{ij},$$

where

$$\hat{\mathbf{U}}_{ij} = \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_i - x}{h}\right) \left(\mathbb{1}[x_j \le x_i] - F(x_i)\right) K_h(x_i - x) + \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_j - x}{h}\right) \left(\mathbb{1}[x_i \le x_j] - F(x_j)\right) K_h(x_j - x) \\ - \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_i - x}{h}\right) \left(\mathbb{1}[x_j \le x_i] - F(x_i)\right) K_h(x_i - x) \middle| x_j\right] - \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_j - x}{h}\right) \left(\mathbb{1}[x_i \le x_j] - F(x_j)\right) K_h(x_j - x) \middle| x_i\right]$$

To compute the leading term, it suffices to consider

$$2\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)'\left(\mathbb{1}\left[x_{j}\leq x_{i}\right]-F(x_{i})\right)^{2}K_{h}(x_{i}-x)^{2}\right]$$

$$=2\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-x}{h}\right)'\left(F(x_{i})-F(x_{i})^{2}\right)K_{h}(x_{i}-x)^{2}\right]$$

$$=\frac{2}{h}\int_{\frac{x_{L}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{U}-x}{h}}\mathbf{r}_{p}(v)\mathbf{r}_{p}(v)'\left(F(x+hv)-F(x+hv)^{2}\right)K(v)^{2}f(x+hv)dv$$

$$=\frac{2}{h}\int_{\frac{x_{L}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{U}-x}{h}}\mathbf{r}_{p}(v)\mathbf{r}_{p}(v)'\left(F(x)-F(x)^{2}\right)K(v)^{2}f(x)dv+O(1)$$

$$=_{\text{interior}}\frac{2}{h}f(x)\left[F(x)-F(x)^{2}\right]\mathbf{T}_{p,x}+O(1),$$

$$=_{\text{boundary}}O(1),$$

which closes the proof.

7.5 Proof of Theorem 1

Proof. This follows from previous lemmas.

7.6 Proof of Theorem 2

Proof. First we note that the second half of the theorem follows from the first half and the asymptotic normality result of Theorem 1, hence it suffices to prove the first half, i.e. the consistency of $\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{p,v}(x)$.

The analysis of this estimator is quite involved, since it takes the form of a third order V-statistic. Moreover, since the empirical d.f. \tilde{F} is involved in the formula, a full expansion leads to a fifth order V-statistic. However, some simple tricks will greatly simplify the problem.

We first split $\hat{\Gamma}_{p,x}$ into four terms, respectively

$$\begin{split} \hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{p,x,1} &= \frac{1}{n^3} \sum_{i,j,k} \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_j - x}{h} \right) \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_k - x}{h} \right)' K_h(x_j - x) K_h(x_k - x) \Big(\mathbb{1} [x_i \le x_j] - F(x_j) \Big) \Big(\mathbb{1} [x_i \le x_k] - F(x_k) \Big) \\ \hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{p,x,2} &= \frac{1}{n^3} \sum_{i,j,k} \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_j - x}{h} \right) \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_k - x}{h} \right)' K_h(x_j - x) K_h(x_k - x) \Big(F(x_j) - \tilde{F}(x_j) \Big) \Big(\mathbb{1} [x_i \le x_k] - \tilde{F}(x_k) \Big) \\ \hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{p,x,3} &= \frac{1}{n^3} \sum_{i,j,k} \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_j - x}{h} \right) \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_k - x}{h} \right)' K_h(x_j - x) K_h(x_k - x) \Big(\mathbb{1} [x_i \le x_j] - \tilde{F}(x_j) \Big) \Big(F(x_k) - \tilde{F}(x_k) \Big) \\ \hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{p,x,4} &= \frac{1}{n^3} \sum_{i,j,k} \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_j - x}{h} \right) \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_k - x}{h} \right)' K_h(x_j - x) K_h(x_k - x) \Big(F(x_j) - \tilde{F}(x_j) \Big) \Big(F(x_k) - \tilde{F}(x_k) \Big). \end{split}$$

Leaving $\hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{p,x,1}$ for a while, since it is the key component in this variance estimator. We first consider $\mathbf{N}_x \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x}^{-1} \hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{p,x,4} \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{N}_x$. By the uniform consistency of the empirical d.f., it can be shown easily that

$$\mathbf{N}_{x}\hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x}^{-1}\hat{\mathbf{\Sigma}}_{p,x,4}\hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x}^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{x}=O_{\mathbb{P}}\left(\left(nh
ight)^{-1}
ight)$$
 .

Note that the extra h^{-1} comes from the scaling matrix \mathbf{N}_x , but not the kernel function K_h . Next we consider $\mathbf{N}_x \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x}^{-1} \hat{\mathbf{\Sigma}}_{p,x,2} \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{N}_x$, which takes the following form (up to the negligible smoothing bias):

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{N}_{x} \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x}^{-1} \hat{\mathbf{\Sigma}}_{p,x,2} \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{N}_{x} = & \mathbf{N}_{x} \mathbf{H}(\boldsymbol{\beta}_{p}(x) - \hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_{p}(x)) \left(\frac{1}{n^{2}} \sum_{i,k} \mathbf{r}_{p} \left(\frac{x_{k} - x}{h} \right)' K_{h}(x_{k} - x) \left(\mathbb{1}[x_{i} \leq x_{k}] - \tilde{F}(x_{k}) \right) \right) \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{N}_{x} \\ = & O_{\mathbb{P}}((nh)^{-1/2}) = o_{\mathbb{P}}(1), \end{split}$$

where the last line uses the asymptotic normality of $\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_{p}(x)$. For $\hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{p,x,1}$, we make the observation that it is possible to ignore all "diagonal" terms, meaning that

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}_{p,x,1} = \frac{1}{n^3} \sum_{\substack{i,j,k \\ \text{distinct}}} \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_j - x}{h}\right) \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_k - x}{h}\right)' K_h(x_j - x) K_h(x_k - x) \left(\mathbbm{1}[x_i \le x_j] - F(x_j)\right) \left(\mathbbm{1}[x_i \le x_k] - F(x_k)\right) + o_{\mathbb{P}}(h),$$

under the assumption that $nh^2 \to \infty$. As a surrogate, define

$$\mathbf{U}_{i,j,k} = \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_j - x}{h}\right) \mathbf{r}_p \left(\frac{x_k - x}{h}\right)' K_h(x_j - x) K_h(x_k - x) \left(\mathbb{1}[x_i \le x_j] - F(x_j)\right) \left(\mathbb{1}[x_i \le x_k] - F(x_k)\right).$$

which means

$$\hat{\Sigma}_{p,x,1} = \frac{1}{n^3} \sum_{\substack{i,j,k \\ \text{distinct}}} \mathbf{U}_{i,j,k}.$$

The critical step is to further decompose the above into

$$\hat{\Sigma}_{p,x,1} = \frac{1}{n^3} \sum_{\substack{i,j,k\\\text{distinct}}} \mathbb{E}[\mathbf{U}_{i,j,k}|x_i] \tag{I}$$

$$+\frac{1}{n^3}\sum_{\substack{i,j,k\\\text{distinct}}} \left(\mathbf{U}_{i,j,k} - \mathbb{E}[\mathbf{U}_{i,j,k}|x_i,x_j] \right) \tag{II}$$

$$+\frac{1}{n^3}\sum_{\substack{i,j,k\\\text{distinct}}} \left(\mathbb{E}[\mathbf{U}_{i,j,k}|x_i,x_j] - \mathbb{E}[\mathbf{U}_{i,j,k}|x_i]\right).$$
(III)

We already investigated the properties of term (I) in Lemma 3, hence it remains to show that both (II) and (III) are o(h), hence does not affect the estimation of asymptotic variance. We consider (II) as an example, and the analysis of (III) is similar. Since (II) has zero expectation, we consider its variance (for simplicity treat **U** as a scaler):

$$\mathbb{V}[(\mathrm{II})] = \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{n^6} \sum_{\substack{i,j,k \\ \text{distinct distinct}}} \sum_{\substack{i',j',k' \\ \text{distinct distinct}}} \left(\mathbf{U}_{i,j,k} - \mathbb{E}[\mathbf{U}_{i,j,k}|x_i,x_j]\right) \left(\mathbf{U}_{i,j,k} - \mathbb{E}[\mathbf{U}_{i',j',k'}|x_{i'},x_{j'}]\right)\right].$$

The expectation will be zero if the six indices are all distinct. Similarly, when there are only two indices among the six are equal, the expectation will be zero unless k = k', hence

$$\mathbb{V}[(\mathrm{II})] = \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{n^{6}} \sum_{\substack{i,j,k,\\\mathrm{distinct}\\\mathrm{distinct}\\\mathrm{distinct}}} \sum_{\substack{i',j',k'\\\mathrm{distinct}\\\mathrm{distinct}}} \left(\mathbf{U}_{i,j,k} - \mathbb{E}[\mathbf{U}_{i,j,k}|x_{i},x_{j}]\right) \left(\mathbf{U}_{i,j,k} - \mathbb{E}[\mathbf{U}_{i',j',k'}|x_{i'},x_{j'}]\right)\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{n^{6}} \sum_{\substack{i,j,k,i'j'\\\mathrm{distinct}}} \left(\mathbf{U}_{i,j,k} - \mathbb{E}[\mathbf{U}_{i,j,k}|x_{i},x_{j}]\right) \left(\mathbf{U}_{i,j,k} - \mathbb{E}[\mathbf{U}_{i',j',k}|x_{i'},x_{j'}]\right)\right]$$
$$+ \cdots,$$

where \cdots represent cases where more than two indices among the six are equal. We can easily compute the order from the above as

$$\mathbb{V}[(\mathrm{II})] = O(n^{-1}) + O((nh)^{-2}),$$

which shows that

(II) =
$$O_{\mathbb{P}}(n^{-1/2} + (nh)^{-1}) = o_{\mathbb{P}}(h),$$

which closes the proof.

7.7 Proof of Lemma 5

Proof. We rely on Lemma 1 and 2 (note that whether the weights are estimated is irrelevant here), hence will not repeat arguments already established there. Instead, extra care will be given to ensure the characterization of higher order bias.

Consider the case where with enough smoothness on G, then the bias is characterized by

$$h^{-v}v!\mathbf{e}'_{v} \left[f(x)\mathbf{S}_{p,x} + hF^{(2)}(x)\tilde{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x} + o(h) + O_{\mathbb{P}}(1/\sqrt{nh}) \right]^{-1} \\ \left[h^{p+1}\frac{F^{(p+1)}(x)}{(p+1)!}f(x)\mathbf{c}_{p,x} + h^{p+2} \left[\frac{F^{(p+2)}(x)}{(p+2)!}f(x) + \frac{F^{(p+1)}(x)}{(p+1)!}F^{(2)}(x) \right] \tilde{\mathbf{c}}_{p,x} + o(h^{p+2}) \right] \\ = h^{-v}v!\mathbf{e}'_{v} \left[\frac{1}{f(x)}\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} - h\frac{F^{(2)}(x)}{[f(x)]^{2}}\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1}\tilde{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x}\mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} + O_{\mathbb{P}}\left(1/\sqrt{nh}\right) \right] \\ \left[h^{p+1}\frac{F^{(p+1)}(x)}{(p+1)!}f(x)\mathbf{c}_{p,x} + h^{p+2} \left[\frac{F^{(p+2)}(x)}{(p+2)!}f(x) + \frac{F^{(p+1)}(x)}{(p+1)!}F^{(2)}(x) \right] \tilde{\mathbf{c}}_{p,x} + o(h^{p+2}) \right] \{1 + o_{\mathbb{P}}(1)\},$$

which gives the desired result. Here $\tilde{\mathbf{S}}_{p,x} = \int_{\frac{x_{1}-x}{h}}^{\frac{x_{1}-x}{h}} u\mathbf{r}_{p}(u)\mathbf{r}_{p}(u)'k(u)du$. And for the last line to hold, one needs the extra condition $nh^{3} \to \infty$ so that $O_{\mathbb{P}}\left(1/\sqrt{nh}\right) = o_{\mathbb{P}}(h)$. See Fan and Gijbels (1996) (Theorem 3.1, pp. 62).

7.8 Proof of Lemma 6

Proof. The proof resembles that of Lemma 1, and is omitted here.

7.9 Proof of Theorem 3

Proof. The proof splits into two cases. We sketch one of them. Assume either x is boundary or p - v is odd, the MSE-optimal bandwidth is asymptotically equivalent to the following:

$$\frac{\tilde{h}_{p,v}(x)}{h_{p,v}(x)} \to 1, \qquad \tilde{h}_{p,v}(x) = \left(\frac{1}{n} \frac{(2v-1)f(x)\mathbf{e}'_v \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{\Gamma}_{p,x} \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{e}_v}{(2p-2v+2)(\frac{F^{(p+1)}(x)}{(p+1)!} \mathbf{e}'_v \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{c}_{p,x})^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2p+1}},$$

which is obtained by optimizing MSE ignoring the higher order bias term. With consistency of the preliminary estimates, it can be shown that

$$\hat{h}_{p,v}(x) = \left(\frac{1}{n} \frac{(2v-1)\hat{\sigma}_{p,v}(x)^2 n \ell^{2v-1}}{(2p-2v+2)(v! \frac{\hat{F}^{(p+1)}(x)}{(p+1)!} \mathbf{e}'_v \mathbf{S}_{p,x}^{-1} \mathbf{c}_{p,x})^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2p+1}} \{1 + o_{\mathbb{P}}(1)\}.$$

Apply the consistency assumption of the preliminary estimates again, one can easily show that $\hat{h}_{p,v}(x)$ is consistent both in rate and constant.

A similar argument can be made for the other case, and is omitted here.

7.10 Proof of Lemma 7

Proof. This resembles the proof of Lemma 1, and we only perform the mean computation. To start,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{n}\mathbf{X}_{h}'\mathbf{K}_{h}\mathbf{X}_{h}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-\bar{x}}{h}\right)\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-\bar{x}}{h}\right)'\frac{1}{h}K\left(\frac{x_{i}-\bar{x}}{h}\right)\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-\bar{x}}{h}\right)\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-\bar{x}}{h}\right)'\frac{1}{h}K\left(\frac{x_{i}-\bar{x}}{h}\right)\right|x_{i}<\bar{x}\right]F(\bar{x})$$
$$+ \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-\bar{x}}{h}\right)\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-\bar{x}}{h}\right)'\frac{1}{h}K\left(\frac{x_{i}-\bar{x}}{h}\right)\right|x_{i}\geq\bar{x}\right](1-F(\bar{x})).$$

Then by Lemma 1, the first term takes the form:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-\bar{x}}{h}\right)\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-\bar{x}}{h}\right)'\frac{1}{h}K\left(\frac{x_{i}-\bar{x}}{h}\right)\middle|x_{i}<\bar{x}\right]F(\bar{x})$$
$$=f(\bar{x}-|x_{i}<\bar{x})F(\bar{x})\int_{-1}^{0}\mathbf{r}_{-,p}(u)\mathbf{r}_{-,p}(u)'K(u)\mathrm{d}u+O(h),$$

where $f(\bar{x} - |x_i < \bar{x})$ is the one-sided density of x_i at the cutoff, conditional on $x_i < \bar{x}$. Alternatively, we can simplify by the fact that $f(\bar{x}|x_i < \bar{x})F(\bar{x}) = f(\bar{x}-)$. Similarly, one has

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-\bar{x}}{h}\right)\mathbf{r}_{p}\left(\frac{x_{i}-\bar{x}}{h}\right)'\frac{1}{h}K\left(\frac{x_{i}-\bar{x}}{h}\right)\middle|x_{i}\geq\bar{x}\right](1-F(\bar{x}))\right]$$
$$=f(\bar{x}+|x_{i}\geq\bar{x})(1-F(\bar{x}))\int_{0}^{1}\mathbf{r}_{+,p}(u)\mathbf{r}_{+,p}(u)'K(u)\mathrm{d}u+O(h),$$

and that $f(\bar{x} + |x_i \ge \bar{x})(1 - F(\bar{x})) = f(\bar{x}+)$. The rest of the proof follows standard variance calculation, and is not repeated here.

7.11 Proof of Lemma 8

Proof. This follows from Lemma 2 by splitting the bias calculation for the two subsamples, below and above the cutoff \bar{x} .

7.12 Proof of Lemma 9

Proof. To start,

$$\int_{-1}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{p}(u) \left(\tilde{F}(\bar{x}+hu) - F(\bar{x}+hu) \right) K(u) f(\bar{x}+hu) \mathrm{d}u = \frac{1}{n} \int_{-1}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{p}(u) \left(\mathbb{1}[x_{i} \leq \bar{x}+hu] - F(\bar{x}+hu) \right) K(u) f(\bar{x}+hu) \mathrm{d}u,$$

and

$$\mathbb{V}\left[\int_{-1}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(u\right) \left(\mathbbm{1}\left[x_{i} \leq \bar{x} + hu\right] - F(\bar{x} + hu)\right) K(u) f(\bar{x} + hu) du\right] \\
= \iint_{-1}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(u\right) \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(v\right)' K(u) K(v) f(\bar{x} + hu) f(\bar{x} + hv) \\
\times \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\mathbbm{1}\left[t \leq \bar{x} + hu\right] - F(\bar{x} + hu)\right) \left(\mathbbm{1}\left[t \leq \bar{x} + hv\right] - F(\bar{x} + hv)\right) f(t) dt\right] du dv \\
= \iint_{-1}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(u\right) \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(v\right)' K(u) K(v) f(\bar{x} + hu) f(\bar{x} + hv) \left(F(\bar{x} + h(u \wedge v)) - F(\bar{x} + hu)F(\bar{x} + hv)\right) du dv. \quad (I)$$

Now we split the integral of (I) into four regions.

$$\begin{aligned} (u < 0, v < 0) \ (\mathbf{I}) &= \iint_{-1}^{0} \mathbf{r}_{-,p} \left(u \right) \mathbf{r}_{-,p} \left(v \right)' K(u) K(v) f(\bar{x} + hu) f(\bar{x} + hv) \Big(F(\bar{x} + h(u \land v)) - F(\bar{x} + hu) F(\bar{x} + hv) \Big) du dv \\ &= f(\bar{x} -)^{2} \Big(F(\bar{x}) - F(\bar{x})^{2} \Big) \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \mathbf{e}_{0,-} \mathbf{e}_{0,-}' \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \\ &- hf(\bar{x} -)^{3} F(\bar{x}) \mathbf{S}_{-,p} (\mathbf{e}_{1,-} \mathbf{e}_{0,-}' + \mathbf{e}_{0,-} \mathbf{e}_{1,-}') \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \\ &+ hf(\bar{x} -) F^{(2)}(\bar{x} -) \Big(F(\bar{x}) - F(\bar{x})^{2} \Big) \mathbf{S}_{-,p} (\mathbf{e}_{1,-} \mathbf{e}_{0,-}' + \mathbf{e}_{0,-} \mathbf{e}_{1,-}') \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \\ &+ hf(\bar{x} -)^{3} \Gamma_{-,p} + O(h^{2}), \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} (u \ge 0, v \ge 0) \ (\mathbf{I}) &= \iint_{0}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{+,p} \left(u \right) \mathbf{r}_{+,p} \left(v \right)' K(u) K(v) f(\bar{x} + hu) f(\bar{x} + hv) \Big(F(\bar{x} + h(u \land v)) - F(\bar{x} + hu) F(\bar{x} + hv) \Big) du dv \\ &= f(\bar{x} +)^{2} \Big(F(\bar{x}) - F(\bar{x})^{2} \Big) \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \mathbf{e}_{0,+} \mathbf{e}_{0,+}' \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \\ &- hf(\bar{x} +)^{3} F(\bar{x}) \mathbf{S}_{+,p} (\mathbf{e}_{1,+} \mathbf{e}_{0,+}' + \mathbf{e}_{0,+} \mathbf{e}_{1,+}') \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \\ &+ hf(\bar{x} +) F^{(2)}(\bar{x} +) \Big(F(\bar{x}) - F(\bar{x})^{2} \Big) \mathbf{S}_{+,p} (\mathbf{e}_{1,+} \mathbf{e}_{0,+}' + \mathbf{e}_{0,+} \mathbf{e}_{1,+}') \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \\ &+ hf(\bar{x} +)^{3} \Gamma_{+,p} + O(h^{2}), \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} (u < 0, v \ge 0) \ (\mathbf{I}) &= \iint_{[-1,0] \times [0,1]} \mathbf{r}_{-,p} \left(u \right) \mathbf{r}_{+,p} \left(v \right)' K(u) K(v) f(\bar{x} + hu) f(\bar{x} + hv) F(\bar{x} + hu) \left(1 - F(\bar{x} + hv) \right) du dv \\ &= \left[\int_{-1}^{0} \mathbf{r}_{-,p} \left(u \right) K(u) f(\bar{x} + hu) F(\bar{x} + hu) du \right] \left[\int_{0}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{+,p} \left(v \right)' K(v) f(\bar{x} + hv) \left(1 - F(\bar{x} + hv) \right) dv \right] \\ &= \left[f(\bar{x} -) F(\bar{x}) \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \mathbf{e}_{0,-} + h \left(f(\bar{x} -)^2 + F^{(2)}(\bar{x} -) F(\bar{x}) \right) \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \mathbf{e}_{1,-} + O(h^2) \right] \\ &\qquad \left[f(\bar{x} +) (1 - F(\bar{x})) \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \mathbf{e}_{0,+} + h \left(- f(\bar{x} +)^2 + F^{(2)}(\bar{x} +) (1 - F(\bar{x})) \right) \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \mathbf{e}_{1,+} + O(h^2) \right]', \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} (u \ge 0, v < 0) \ (\mathbf{I}) &= \iint_{[0,1]\times[-1,0]} \mathbf{r}_{-,p} \left(u \right) \mathbf{r}_{+,p} \left(v \right)' K(u) K(v) f(\bar{x} + hu) f(\bar{x} + hv) F(\bar{x} + hv) \left(1 - F(\bar{x} + hu) \right) \mathrm{d} u \mathrm{d} v \\ &= \left[\int_{0}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{+,p} \left(u \right) K(u) f(\bar{x} + hu) (1 - F(\bar{x} + hu)) \mathrm{d} u \right] \left[\int_{-1}^{0} \mathbf{r}_{-,p} \left(v \right)' K(v) f(\bar{x} + hv) F(\bar{x} + hv) \right) \mathrm{d} v \right] \\ &= \left[f(\bar{x} +) (1 - F(\bar{x})) \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \mathbf{e}_{0,+} + h \left(- f(\bar{x} +)^{2} + F^{(2)}(\bar{x} +) (1 - F(\bar{x})) \right) \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \mathbf{e}_{1,+} + O(h^{2}) \right] \\ &= \left[f(\bar{x} -) F(\bar{x} -) \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \mathbf{e}_{0,-} + h \left(f(\bar{x} -)^{2} + F^{(2)}(\bar{x} -) F(\bar{x}) \right) \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \mathbf{e}_{1,-} + O(h^{2}) \right]'. \end{aligned}$$

Let $\mathbf{S}_{-,p}^{-1}$ and $\mathbf{S}_{+,p}^{-1}$ be the Moore–Penrose inverse of $\mathbf{S}_{-,p}$ and $\mathbf{S}_{+,p}$, respectively. Then

$$\mathbb{V}\left[(\mathbf{e}_{1,+} - \mathbf{e}_{1,-})' \sqrt{\frac{n}{h}} (f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})^{-1} \hat{\mathbf{L}} \right]$$

= $f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{e}_{1,-}'\mathbf{S}_{-,p}^{-1}\mathbf{\Gamma}_{-,p}\mathbf{S}_{-,p}^{-1}\mathbf{e}_{1,-} + f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{e}_{1,+}'\mathbf{S}_{+,p}^{-1}\mathbf{\Gamma}_{+,p}\mathbf{S}_{+,p}^{-1}\mathbf{e}_{1,+} + O(h).$

7.13 Proof of Lemma 10

Proof. This follows from Lemma 4 by splitting the bias calculation for the two subsamples, below and above the cutoff \bar{x} .

7.14 Proof of Corollary 1

Proof. This follows from the previous lemmas and verifying the Lindeberg condition. See also the proof of Lemma 3, Theorem 1 and Theorem 2.

7.15 Proof of Lemma 11

Proof. This follows from Lemma 1 by splitting the bias calculation for the two subsamples, below and above the cutoff \bar{x} . See also the proof of Lemma 7.

7.16 Proof of Lemma 12

Proof. This follows from Lemma 2 by splitting the bias calculation for the two subsamples, below and above the cutoff \bar{x} .

7.17 Proof of Lemma 13

Proof. To start,

$$\int_{-1}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{p}(u) \left(\tilde{F}(\bar{x}+hu) - F(\bar{x}+hu) \right) K(u) f(\bar{x}+hu) du = \frac{1}{n} \int_{-1}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{p}(u) \left(\mathbb{1}[x_{i} \leq \bar{x}+hu] - F(\bar{x}+hu) \right) K(u) f(\bar{x}+hu) du,$$

and

$$\mathbb{V}\left[\int_{-1}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(u\right) \left(\mathbbm{1}\left[x_{i} \leq \bar{x} + hu\right] - F(\bar{x} + hu)\right) K(u) f(\bar{x} + hu) du\right] \\
= \iint_{-1}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(u\right) \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(v\right)' K(u) K(v) f(\bar{x} + hu) f(\bar{x} + hv) \\
\times \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\mathbbm{1}\left[t \leq \bar{x} + hu\right] - F(\bar{x} + hu)\right) \left(\mathbbm{1}\left[t \leq \bar{x} + hv\right] - F(\bar{x} + hv)\right) f(t) dt\right] du dv \\
= \iint_{-1}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(u\right) \mathbf{r}_{p}\left(v\right)' K(u) K(v) f(\bar{x} + hu) f(\bar{x} + hv) \left(F(\bar{x} + h(u \wedge v)) - F(\bar{x} + hu)F(\bar{x} + hv)\right) du dv. \quad (I)$$

Now we split the integral of (I) into four regions.

$$\begin{aligned} (u < 0, v < 0) \ (\mathbf{I}) &= \iint_{-1}^{0} \mathbf{r}_{-,p} \left(u \right) \mathbf{r}_{-,p} \left(v \right)' K(u) K(v) f(\bar{x} + hu) f(\bar{x} + hv) \Big(F(\bar{x} + h(u \land v)) - F(\bar{x} + hu) F(\bar{x} + hv) \Big) \mathrm{d}u \mathrm{d}v \\ &= f(\bar{x} -)^{2} \Big(F(\bar{x}) - F(\bar{x})^{2} \Big) \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \mathbf{e}_{0} \mathbf{e}_{0}' \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \\ &\quad - hf(\bar{x} -)^{3} F(\bar{x}) \mathbf{S}_{-,p} (\mathbf{e}_{1,-} \mathbf{e}_{0}' + \mathbf{e}_{0} \mathbf{e}_{1,-}') \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \\ &\quad + hf(\bar{x} -) F^{(2)} (\bar{x}) \Big(F(\bar{x}) - F(\bar{x})^{2} \Big) \mathbf{S}_{-,p} (\mathbf{e}_{1,-} \mathbf{e}_{0}' + \mathbf{e}_{0} \mathbf{e}_{1,-}') \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \\ &\quad + hf(\bar{x} -)^{3} \Gamma_{-,p} + O(h^{2}), \end{aligned}$$

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

$$\begin{aligned} (u \ge 0, v \ge 0) \ (\mathbf{I}) &= \iint_{0}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{+,p} \left(u \right) \mathbf{r}_{+,p} \left(v \right)' K(u) K(v) f(\bar{x} + hu) f(\bar{x} + hv) \Big(F(\bar{x} + h(u \land v)) - F(\bar{x} + hu) F(\bar{x} + hv) \Big) \mathrm{d}u \mathrm{d}v \\ &= f(\bar{x} +)^{2} \Big(F(\bar{x}) - F(\bar{x})^{2} \Big) \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \mathbf{e}_{0} \mathbf{e}_{0}' \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \\ &- hf(\bar{x} +)^{3} F(\bar{x}) \mathbf{S}_{+,p} (\mathbf{e}_{1,+} \mathbf{e}_{0}' + \mathbf{e}_{0} \mathbf{e}_{1,+}') \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \\ &+ hf(\bar{x} +) F^{(2)}(\bar{x}) \Big(F(\bar{x}) - F(\bar{x})^{2} \Big) \mathbf{S}_{+,p} (\mathbf{e}_{1,+} \mathbf{e}_{0}' + \mathbf{e}_{0} \mathbf{e}_{1,+}') \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \\ &+ hf(\bar{x} +)^{3} \Gamma_{+,p} + O(h^{2}), \end{aligned}$$

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

$$\begin{aligned} (u < 0, v \ge 0) \ (I) &= \iint_{[-1,0] \times [0,1]} \mathbf{r}_{-,p} \ (u) \ \mathbf{r}_{+,p} \ (v)' \ K(u) \ K(v) \ f(\bar{x} + hu) \ f(\bar{x} + hv) \ F(\bar{x} + hu) \left(1 - F(\bar{x} + hv)\right) \ du \ dv \\ &= \left[\int_{-1}^{0} \mathbf{r}_{-,p} \ (u) \ K(u) \ f(\bar{x} + hu) \ F(\bar{x} + hu) \ du\right] \left[\int_{0}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{+,p} \ (v)' \ K(v) \ f(\bar{x} + hv) \left(1 - F(\bar{x} + hv)\right) \ dv\right] \\ &= \left[f(\bar{x} -) F(\bar{x}) \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \mathbf{e}_{0} + h\left(f(\bar{x} -)^{2} + F^{(2)}(\bar{x}) F(\bar{x})\right) \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \mathbf{e}_{1,-} + O(h^{2})\right] \\ &= \left[f(\bar{x} +)(1 - F(\bar{x})) \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \mathbf{e}_{0} + h\left(-f(\bar{x} +)^{2} + F^{(2)}(\bar{x})(1 - F(\bar{x}))\right) \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \mathbf{e}_{1,+} + O(h^{2})\right]', \end{aligned}$$

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

$$\begin{aligned} (u \ge 0, v < 0) \ (\mathbf{I}) &= \iint_{[0,1]\times[-1,0]} \mathbf{r}_{-,p} \ (u) \ \mathbf{r}_{+,p} \ (v)' \ K(u) \\ K(v) f(\bar{x} + hu) f(\bar{x} + hv) F(\bar{x} + hv) \Big(1 - F(\bar{x} + hu) \Big) du dv \\ &= \left[\int_{0}^{1} \mathbf{r}_{+,p} \ (u) \ K(u) f(\bar{x} + hu) (1 - F(\bar{x} + hu)) du \right] \left[\int_{-1}^{0} \mathbf{r}_{-,p} \ (v)' \ K(v) f(\bar{x} + hv) F(\bar{x} + hv) \Big) dv \right] \\ &= \left[f(\bar{x} +) (1 - F(\bar{x})) \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \mathbf{e}_{0} + h \Big(- f(\bar{x} +)^{2} + F^{(2)}(\bar{x}) (1 - F(\bar{x})) \Big) \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \mathbf{e}_{1,+} + O(h^{2}) \right] \\ &= \left[f(\bar{x} -) F(\bar{x}) \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \mathbf{e}_{0} + h \Big(f(\bar{x} -)^{2} + F^{(2)}(\bar{x}) F(\bar{x}) \Big) \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \mathbf{e}_{1,-} + O(h^{2}) \right] \end{aligned}$$

By collecting terms, one has

$$\begin{split} (\mathbf{I}) &= \left(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{-,p}\right)\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}_{0}'\left(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{-,p}\right)' \\ &\quad - hf(\bar{x}-)F(\bar{x})f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p}\mathbf{e}_{1,-}\mathbf{e}_{0}'(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p}) \\ &\quad + h\frac{F^{(2)}(\bar{x})}{f(\bar{x}-)}F(\bar{x})(1-F(\bar{x}))f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p}\mathbf{e}_{1,-}\mathbf{e}_{0}'(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p}) \\ &\quad - hf(\bar{x}-)F(\bar{x})(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}_{1,-}'f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p} \\ &\quad + h\frac{F^{(2)}(\bar{x})}{f(\bar{x}-)}F(\bar{x})(1-F(\bar{x}))(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}_{1,-}'f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p} \\ &\quad - hf(\bar{x}+)F(\bar{x})f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p}\mathbf{e}_{1,+}\mathbf{e}_{0}'(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p}) \\ &\quad - hf(\bar{x}+)F(\bar{x})f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p}\mathbf{e}_{1,+}\mathbf{e}_{0}'(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p}) \\ &\quad - hf(\bar{x}+)F(\bar{x})(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}_{1,+}'f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} \\ &\quad + h\frac{F^{(2)}(\bar{x})}{f(\bar{x}+)}F(\bar{x})(1-F(\bar{x}))(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}_{1,+}'f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} \\ &\quad + hf(\bar{x}-)f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p}\mathbf{e}_{1,-}\mathbf{e}_{0}'f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} \\ &\quad + hf(\bar{x}-)f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p}\mathbf{e}_{1,-}\mathbf{e}_{0}'f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p} \\ &\quad + hf(\bar{x}-)f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p}\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}_{1,-}'f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p} \\ &\quad + h(f(\bar{x}+)^{3}\Gamma_{+,p}+f(\bar{x}-)^{3}\Gamma_{-,p}). \end{split}$$

Next, we note that

 $\mathbf{S}_{+,p}\mathbf{e}_{1,-}=\mathbf{S}_{-,p}\mathbf{e}_{1,+}=\mathbf{0},$

which implies

$$\begin{split} (\mathbf{I}) &= \left(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{-,p}\right)\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}_{0}'\left(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{-,p}\right)'\\ &\quad - hf(\bar{x}-)F(\bar{x})(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{1,-}\mathbf{e}_{0}'(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad + h\frac{F^{(2)}(\bar{x})}{f(\bar{x}-)}F(\bar{x})(1-F(\bar{x}))(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{1,-}\mathbf{e}_{0}'(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad - hf(\bar{x}-)F(\bar{x})(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}_{1,-}'(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad - hf(\bar{x}-)F(\bar{x})(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}_{1,-}'(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad + h\frac{F^{(2)}(\bar{x})}{f(\bar{x}-)}F(\bar{x})(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}_{1,-}'(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad - hf(\bar{x}+)F(\bar{x})(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{1,+}\mathbf{e}_{0}'(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad + h\frac{F^{(2)}(\bar{x})}{f(\bar{x}+)}(1-F(\bar{x}))F(\bar{x})(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{1,+}\mathbf{e}_{0}'(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad - hf(\bar{x}+)F(\bar{x})(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}_{1,+}'(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad + h\frac{F^{(2)}(\bar{x})}{f(\bar{x}+)}F(\bar{x})(1-F(\bar{x}))(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}_{1,+}'(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad + hf(\bar{x}-)(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}_{1,+}'(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad + hf(\bar{x}-)(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{1,-}\mathbf{e}_{0}'f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p}\\ &\quad + hf(\bar{x}-)f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{1,-}\mathbf{e}_{0}'f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p}\\ &\quad + hf(\bar{x}-)f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad + h(f(\bar{x}+)^{3}\mathbf{\Gamma}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)^{3}\mathbf{\Gamma}_{-,p}). \end{split}$$

Next note that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{\Gamma}_{-,p} &= \iint_{[-1,0]^2} (u \wedge v) \mathbf{r}_{-,p}(u) \mathbf{r}_{-,p}(v)' K(u) K(v) du dv \\ &= \iint_{[0,1]^2} ((-u) \wedge (-v)) \mathbf{r}_{-,p}(-u) \mathbf{r}_{-,p}(-v)' K(u) K(v) du dv \\ &= \iint_{[0,1]^2} (u \wedge v - u - v) \Psi \mathbf{r}_{+,p}(u) \mathbf{r}_{+,p}(v)' \Psi K(u) K(v) du dv \\ &= \Psi \mathbf{\Gamma}_{+,p} \Psi - \Psi \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \mathbf{e}_{1,+} \mathbf{e}_0' \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \Psi - \Psi \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \mathbf{e}_0 \mathbf{e}_{1,+}' \mathbf{S}_{+,p} \Psi \\ &= \Psi \mathbf{\Gamma}_{+,p} \Psi + \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \mathbf{e}_{1,-} \mathbf{e}_0' \mathbf{S}_{-,p} + \mathbf{S}_{-,p} \mathbf{e}_0 \mathbf{e}_{1,-}' \mathbf{S}_{-,p}, \end{split}$$

then

$$\begin{split} (\mathbf{I}) &= \left(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{-,p}\right)\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}'_{0}\left(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{-,p}\right)'\\ &\quad -hf(\bar{x}-)F(\bar{x})(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{1,-}\mathbf{e}'_{0}(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad +h\frac{F^{(2)}(\bar{x})}{f(\bar{x}-)}F(\bar{x})(1-F(\bar{x}))(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{1,-}\mathbf{e}'_{0}(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad -hf(\bar{x}-)F(\bar{x})(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}'_{1,-}(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad +h\frac{F^{(2)}(\bar{x})}{f(\bar{x}-)}F(\bar{x})(1-F(\bar{x}))(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}'_{1,-}(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad -hf(\bar{x}+)F(\bar{x})(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{1,+}\mathbf{e}'_{0}(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad -hf(\bar{x}+)F(\bar{x})(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{1,+}\mathbf{e}'_{0}(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad -hf(\bar{x}+)F(\bar{x})(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{1,+}\mathbf{e}'_{0}(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad -hf(\bar{x}+)F(\bar{x})(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}'_{1,+}(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad +h\frac{F^{(2)}(\bar{x})}{f(\bar{x}+)}F(\bar{x})(1-F(\bar{x}))(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}'_{1,+}(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad +hf(\bar{x}-)(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\mathbf{e}_{0}\mathbf{e}'_{1,-}(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})\\ &\quad +hf(\bar{x}-)(f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f$$

Therefore,

$$\mathbb{V}\left[\left(\mathbf{e}_{1,+} - \mathbf{e}_{1,-} \right)' \sqrt{\frac{n}{h}} (f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})^{-1} \hat{\mathbf{L}} \right]$$

= $(\mathbf{e}_{1,+} - \mathbf{e}_{1,-})' (f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})^{-1} (f(\bar{x}+)^{3}\Gamma_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)^{3}\Psi\Gamma_{+,p}\Psi) (f(\bar{x}+)\mathbf{S}_{+,p} + f(\bar{x}-)\mathbf{S}_{-,p})^{-1} (\mathbf{e}_{1,+} - \mathbf{e}_{1,-}) + O(h).$

7.18 Proof of Lemma 14

Proof. This follows from Lemma 4 by splitting the bias calculation for the two subsamples, below and above the cutoff \bar{x} .

7.19 Proof of Corollary 2

Proof. This follows from the previous lemmas and verifying the Lindeberg condition. See also the proof of Lemma 3, Theorem 1 and Theorem 2.

		size		5.14	5.54	5.32	4.84	4.22	4.36	4.46	4.56	4.56	4.62	4.62		9.50		0.90		1.36
	SE	mean		0.122	0.070	0.055	0.047	0.041	0.039	0.038	0.035	0.033	0.031	0.029		0.048		0.75		0.906
: 2000		$\sqrt{\text{mse}}$		0.121	0.071	0.055	0.046	0.042	0.040	0.040	0.042	0.046	0.054	0.065		0.055	Quantile	0.50		0.638
= u (q)	\hat{f}_p	sd ,		0.121	0.071	0.055	0.046	0.040	0.038	0.037	0.034	0.032	0.030	0.028		0.054		0.25		0.492
		$_{\mathrm{bias}}$		0.003	0.002	0.002	0.004	0.009	0.012	0.016	0.024	0.034	0.045	0.058		0.012		0.10		0.407
			$h_{\rm MSE}\times$	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	1	1.1	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.9	ĥ				$\hat{h}/h_{ extsf{MSE}}$	
		size		6.00	5.98	4.92	4.76	4.40	4.46	4.74	5.06	4.64	4.60	4.88		8.24		.90		.277
	SE	mean		0.168	0.094	0.074	0.063	0.056	0.053	0.051	0.047	0.044	0.041	0.039		0.066		0.75 0		0.861 1
= 1000		$\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$		0.170	0.097	0.074	0.062	0.056	0.054	0.054	0.056	0.061	0.071	0.083		0.071	Quantil€	0.50		0.607
(a) <i>n</i>	\hat{f}_p	sd		0.170	0.097	0.074	0.062	0.054	0.052	0.050	0.046	0.043	0.040	0.038		0.070		0.25		0.475
		$_{\mathrm{bias}}$		0.008	0.003	0.002	0.006	0.013	0.017	0.021	0.031	0.044	0.058	0.074		0.013		0.10		0.4
			$h_{\mathrm{MSE}} imes$	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	1	1.1	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.9	ĥ				$\hat{h}/h_{ extsf{MSE}}$	

Note. (i) bias: empirical bias of the estimators; (ii) sd: empirical standard deviation of the estimators; (iii) $\sqrt{\text{mse}}$: empirical MSE of the estimators; (iv) mean: empirical

average of the estimated standard errors; (v) size: empirical size of testing the hypothesis at nominal 5% level, the test statistic is centered at $\mathbb{B}\hat{f}_p$.

Table 1. Simulation (truncated Normal). x = -0.8, p = 2, triangular kernel.

	\mathbf{SE}	ean size		161 4.46	$093 ext{ 5.36}$	073 5.70	$062 ext{ } 5.24$	056 4.52	053 4.54	051 4.50	$047 ext{ 4.60}$	044 4.44	042 4.54	040 4.78		078 5.58		5 0.90	
= 2000		\sqrt{mse} me		0.161 0.	0.094 0.0	0.074 0.0	0.062 0.0	0.055 0.0	0.053 0.0	0.051 0.0	0.047 0.0	0.044 0.0	0.042 0.0	0.039 0.0		0.081 0.0	Quantile	0.50 0.7	
= u (q)	\hat{f}_p	$^{\mathrm{sd}}$		0.161	0.094	0.074	0.062	0.055	0.052	0.050	0.047	0.043	0.041	0.039		0.081		0.25	
		bias		0.006	0.003	-0.001	-0.003	-0.004	-0.005	-0.006	-0.008	-0.008	-0.007	-0.004		0.000		0.10	
			$h_{\mathrm{MSE}} \times$	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	1	1.1	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.9	\hat{h}				ĥ /h
		ze	I																
	r-1	sis		4.94	5.50	4.96	4.58	4.58	4.50	4.86	5.12	4.92	4.64	4.92		5.06		0.90	
	SE	mean siz		0.229 4.94	0.127 5.50	0.100 4.96	0.085 4.58	0.076 4.58	0.072 4.50	0.069 4.86	0.064 5.12	0.060 4.92	0.057 4.64	0.054 4.92		0.110 5.06		0.75 0.90	
= 1000	SE	\sqrt{mse} mean size		0.234 0.229 4.94	0.129 0.127 5.50	0.100 0.100 4.96	0.085 0.085 4.58	0.075 0.076 4.58	0.071 0.072 4.50	0.069 0.069 4.86	0.064 0.064 5.12	0.060 0.060 4.92	0.056 0.057 4.64	0.053 0.054 4.92		0.114 0.110 5.06	Juantile	0.50 0.75 0.90	
(a) $n = 1000$	\hat{f}_p SE	$sd \sqrt{mse}$ mean size		0.234 0.234 0.229 4.94	0.129 0.129 0.129 0.127 5.50	0.100 0.100 0.100 4.96	0.085 0.085 0.085 4.58	0.075 0.075 0.076 4.58	0.071 0.071 0.072 4.50	0.068 0.069 0.069 4.86	0.064 0.064 0.064 5.12	0.059 0.060 0.060 4.92	0.056 0.056 0.057 4.64	0.053 0.053 0.053 0.054 4.92		0.114 0.114 0.110 5.06	Quantile	0.25 0.50 0.75 0.90	
(a) $n = 1000$	\hat{f}_p SE	bias sd \sqrt{mse} mean siz		0.015 0.234 0.234 0.229 4.94	0.005 0.129 0.129 0.127 5.50	-0.001 0.100 0.100 0.100 4.96	-0.004 0.085 0.085 0.085 4.58	-0.004 0.075 0.075 0.076 4.58	-0.005 0.071 0.071 0.072 4.50	-0.006 0.068 0.069 0.069 4.86	-0.007 0.064 0.064 0.064 5.12	-0.007 0.059 0.060 0.060 4.92	-0.005 0.056 0.056 0.057 4.64	$0.000 \ 0.053 \ 0.053 \ 0.054 \ 4.92$		0.001 0.114 0.114 0.110 5.06	Quantile	0.10 0.25 0.50 0.75 0.90	

Note. (i) bias: empirical bias of the estimators; (ii) sd: empirical standard deviation of the estimators; (iii) $\sqrt{\text{mse}}$: empirical MSE of the estimators; (iv) mean: empirical average of the estimated standard errors; (v) size: empirical size of testing the hypothesis at nominal 5% level, the test statistic is centered at $\mathbb{B}\hat{f}_p$.

Table 2. Simulation (truncated Normal). x = -0.8, p = 3, triangular kernel.

		63	. <u>.</u>
nel.		SF	mean
gular ker	= 2000		$\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$
, trian	(q) <i>u</i>	\hat{f}_p	$^{\mathrm{sd}}$
-0.5, p = 2			bias
x = -			
rmal).			
ied No		G	size
(truncat		SI	mean
imulation	= 1000		$\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$
e 3. Si	(a) <i>n</i>	\hat{f}_p	$^{\mathrm{sd}}$
Table			bias

		<						<			
		f_p		ŝ	Ð			f_p		S	Е
	bias	sd	$\sqrt{\text{mse}}$	mean	size		bias	$^{\mathrm{sd}}$	$\sqrt{\text{mse}}$	mean	size
MSE X						$h_{\text{MSE}} \times$					
0.1	0.003	0.067	0.067	0.068	5.34	0.1	0.002	0.052	0.052	0.051	5.46
0.3	0.001	0.037	0.037	0.037	5.14	0.3	0.000	0.028	0.028	0.029	5.28
0.5	-0.002	0.028	0.028	0.028	5.26	0.5	-0.002	0.021	0.021	0.021	5.76
0.7	-0.003	0.026	0.026	0.026	4.86	0.7	-0.003	0.018	0.019	0.019	5.48
0.9	-0.003	0.026	0.026	0.026	4.90	0.9	-0.003	0.018	0.018	0.018	5.46
1	-0.002	0.026	0.026	0.026	4.86	1	-0.003	0.018	0.018	0.018	5.30
1.1	-0.001	0.026	0.026	0.026	4.86	1.1	-0.003	0.018	0.018	0.018	5.28
1.3	0.001	0.026	0.026	0.026	4.76	1.3	-0.001	0.018	0.018	0.018	5.12
1.5	0.005	0.026	0.026	0.026	4.88	1.5	0.001	0.018	0.018	0.018	4.68
1.7	0.010	0.025	0.027	0.026	5.02	1.7	0.005	0.018	0.019	0.018	4.58
1.9	0.016	0.025	0.030	0.025	4.68	1.9	0.009	0.018	0.020	0.018	4.50
						ĥ					
	0.004	0.031	0.031	0.026	9.78		0.005	0.027	0.027	0.018	12.86
			Quantil	e					Quantil	e	
	0.10	0.25	0.50	0.75	0.90		0.10	0.25	0.50	0.75	0.90
/hwer						$\frac{\hat{h}}{\hat{h}}/h_{\text{MGF}}$					

Note. (i) bias: empirical bias of the estimators; (ii) sd: empirical standard deviation of the estimators; (iii) $\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$: empirical MSE of the estimators; (iv) mean: empirical average of the estimated standard errors; (v) size: empirical size of testing the hypothesis at nominal 5% level, the test statistic is centered at $\mathbb{E}\hat{f}_p$.

 $0.843 \quad 1.044 \quad 1.433 \quad 2.223$

0.728

 $0.716 \quad 0.828 \quad 1.004 \quad 1.299 \quad 1.861$

	 Ш	size		5.12	5.54	4.90	4.84	4.86	4.84	4.74	4.72	4.60	4.38	4.32		4.74		0.90		0.619
	N	mean		0.045	0.026	0.020	0.018	0.018	0.018	0.018	0.018	0.019	0.019	0.018		0.023	e	0.75		0.457
= 2000		$\sqrt{\text{mse}}$		0.046	0.026	0.019	0.017	0.018	0.018	0.018	0.019	0.020	0.022	0.027		0.022	Quantil	0.50		0.374
<i>u</i> (q)	\hat{f}_p	$^{\mathrm{sd}}$		0.046	0.026	0.019	0.017	0.018	0.018	0.018	0.018	0.018	0.018	0.018		0.022		0.25		0.327
		bias		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.002	0.003	0.007	0.013	0.019		0.001		0.10		0.3
		I	$h_{\mathrm{MSE}} imes$	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	1	1.1	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.9	\hat{h}				$\hat{h}/h_{ extsf{MSE}}$	
		size		5.08	5.46	4.94	4.90	5.00	5.16	5.18	4.80	4.74	4.70	4.66		4.56		.90		.587
	SE	mean		0.061	0.035	0.027	0.025	0.025	0.026	0.026	0.026	.026	.026	.026		031		5		0
0											Ŭ	0	0	0		0		0.7		0.437
= 100		$\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$		0.061	0.036	0.027	0.025	0.025	0.026	0.026	0.027	0.028 0	0.031 0	0.036 0		0.031 0.	Quantile	0.50 0.7		0.361 0.437
(a) $n = 100$	\hat{f}_p	$sd \sqrt{mse}$		0.061 0.061	0.036 0.036	0.027 0.027	0.025 0.025	0.025 0.025	0.026 0.026	0.026 0.026	0.026 0.027 (0.026 0.028 0	0.026 0.031 0	0.026 0.036 0		0.031 0.031 0.	Quantile	0.25 0.50 0.7		0.314 0.361 0.437
(a) $n = 100$	\hat{f}_p	bias sd \sqrt{mse}		0.001 0.061 0.061	0.001 0.036 0.036	0.001 0.027 0.027	0.001 0.025 0.025	0.001 0.025 0.025	0.002 0.026 0.026	0.002 0.026 0.026	0.005 0.026 0.027 0	0.010 0.026 0.028 0	0.017 0.026 0.031 0	0.025 0.026 0.036 0		0.001 0.031 0.031 0.	Quantile	0.10 0.25 0.50 0.7		0.289 0.314 0.361 0.437

Table 4. Simulation (truncated Normal). x = -0.5, p = 3, triangular kernel.

Note. (i) bias: empirical bias of the estimators; (ii) sd: empirical standard deviation of the estimators; (iii) $\sqrt{\text{mse}}$: empirical MSE of the estimators; (iv) mean: empirical average of the estimated standard errors; (v) size: empirical size of testing the hypothesis at nominal 5% level, the test statistic is centered at $\mathbb{B}\hat{f}_p$.

				_		~1		_	~	~						~		_	
	E E	size		5.10	4.56	4.62	4.86	4.90	4.98	5.08	5.00	5.16	5.24	5.46		17.38		0.90	
	S.	mean		0.051	0.028	0.021	0.017	0.014	0.013	0.012	0.011	0.010	0.009	0.008		0.013	e	0.75	
= 2000		$\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$		0.051	0.028	0.021	0.017	0.016	0.015	0.015	0.017	0.019	0.022	0.026		0.020	Quantil	0.50	
= u (q)	\hat{f}_p	$^{\mathrm{sd}}$		0.051	0.028	0.021	0.017	0.014	0.013	0.013	0.011	0.010	0.009	0.008		0.018		0.25	
		bias		0.002	0.000	-0.001	-0.003	-0.006	-0.007	-0.009	-0.013	-0.016	-0.020	-0.025		-0.007		0.10	
			$h_{\text{MSE}} \times$	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	1	1.1	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.9	\hat{h}				$\frac{\hat{h}}{h}$
	G	size		9	4														
		0.1		5.2	5.0	4.8^{2}	4.64	4.68	4.92	4.92	5.20	5.72	6.04	6.44		19.00		0.90	
	S.	mean		0.068 5.2	0.037 5.0	$0.028 4.8^{\circ}$	0.022 4.64	0.018 4.68	0.017 4.92	0.016 4.92	0.014 5.20	0.012 5.72	0.011 6.04	$0.009 ext{ } 6.44$		0.017 19.00		0.75 0.90	
= 1000	S]	\sqrt{mse} mean s		0.068 0.068 5.2	0.037 0.037 5.0	0.027 0.028 4.8°	0.022 0.022 4.64	0.020 0.018 4.68	0.020 0.017 4.92	0.020 0.016 4.92	0.021 0.014 5.20	0.024 0.012 5.72	0.028 0.011 6.04	0.032 0.009 6.44		0.025 0.017 19.00	Quantile	0.50 0.75 0.90	
(a) $n = 1000$	\hat{f}_p SI	$sd \sqrt{mse}$ mean s		0.068 0.068 0.068 5.2	0.037 0.037 0.037 5.0	0.027 0.027 0.028 4.8^{4}	0.022 0.022 0.022 4.64	0.018 0.020 0.018 4.68	0.017 0.020 0.017 4.92	0.016 0.020 0.016 4.92	0.014 0.021 0.014 5.20	0.012 0.024 0.012 5.72	0.011 0.028 0.011 6.04	0.010 0.032 0.009 6.44		0.023 0.025 0.017 19.00	Quantile	0.25 0.50 0.75 0.90	
(a) $n = 1000$	\hat{f}_p SI	bias sd \sqrt{mse} mean s		0.004 0.068 0.068 0.068 5.2	0.000 0.037 0.037 0.037 5.0	-0.002 0.027 0.027 0.028 4.8	-0.004 0.022 0.022 0.022 4.64	-0.008 0.018 0.020 0.018 4.68	-0.010 0.017 0.020 0.017 4.92	-0.012 0.016 0.020 0.016 4.92	-0.016 0.014 0.021 0.014 5.20	-0.021 0.012 0.024 0.012 5.72	-0.026 0.011 0.028 0.011 6.04	-0.031 0.010 0.032 0.009 6.44		-0.009 0.023 0.025 0.017 19.00	Quantile	0.10 0.25 0.50 0.75 0.90	

Table 5. Simulation (truncated Normal). x = 0.5, p = 2, triangular kernel.

Note. (i) bias: empirical bias of the estimators; (ii) sd: empirical standard deviation of the estimators; (iii) $\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$: empirical MSE of the estimators; (iv) mean: empirical average of the estimated standard errors; (v) size: empirical size of testing the hypothesis at nominal 5% level, the test statistic is centered at $\mathbb{E}\hat{f}_p$.

 $0.849 \quad 0.976 \quad 1.214 \quad 1.703$

0.772

 $0.748 \quad 0.829 \quad 0.971 \quad 1.256 \quad 1.785$

	П	I	I												I	I			1	
	G	size		4.88	4.54	4.72	5.18	5.10	5.06	5.04	5.10	5.32	5.42	5.88		8.98		0.90		110
	Š	mean		0.045	0.025	0.018	0.015	0.012	0.012	0.011	0.010	0.009	0.009	0.008		0.013	a	0.75		
2000		$\sqrt{\text{mse}}$		0.045	0.024	0.018	0.015	0.012	0.012	0.011	0.012	0.015	0.018	0.021		0.015	uantil	0.50		0.01
= u (q)	\hat{f}_p	$^{\mathrm{ps}}$		0.045	0.024	0.018	0.015	0.012	0.012	0.011	0.010	0.010	0.009	0.009		0.015		0.25		0 701
		bias		0.001	0.000	0.001	0.001	0.001	-0.001	-0.002	-0.007	-0.011	-0.015	-0.019		-0.001		0.10		1000
			$h_{\text{MSE}} \times$	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	1	1.1	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.9	ĥ				$\hat{h}/h_{ extsf{MSE}}$	
	6	size		5.04	4.88	4.68	4.70	5.06	5.18	5.30	5.64	5.60	5.80	6.10		7.92		0.90		156
	SI	mean		0.061	0.034	0.025	0.020	0.017	0.016	0.015	0.014	0.013	0.012	0.011		0.018		0.75		0 0.06 1
1000		$\sqrt{\text{mse}}$		0.061	0.033	0.024	0.019	0.017	0.016	0.016	0.017	0.019	0.022	0.024		0.020	Juantile	0.50		0 787
11					n	4	61	17	16	(15))14	013	012	012		020		ы го		202
(a) <i>n</i> =	\hat{f}_p	$^{\mathrm{sd}}$		0.061	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.	0.	0.		0.		0.2		J
(a) $n =$	\hat{f}_p	bias sd		0.001 0.061	0.001 0.03	0.001 0.02	0.001 0.01	0.00 0.00	-0.002 0.0	-0.004 0.0	-0.009 0.0	-0.014 0.	-0.018 0.	-0.021 0.		-0.001 0.		0.10 0.2		0 6/1 D 6

Table 6. Simulation (truncated Normal). x = 0.5, p = 3, triangular kernel.

Note. (i) bias: empirical bias of the estimators; (ii) sd: empirical standard deviation of the estimators; (iii) $\sqrt{\text{mse}}$: empirical MSE of the estimators; (iv) mean: empirical average of the estimated standard errors; (v) size: empirical size of testing the hypothesis at nominal 5% level, the test statistic is centered at $\mathbb{E}\hat{f}_p$.

	6	size		5.74	5.08	5.18	5.04	5.08	4.90	4.76	4.68	4.60	4.54	4.44		14.70			0.90		1.96
	SF	mean		0.032	0.018	0.014	0.012	0.010	0.010	0.009	0.008	0.008	0.008	0.007		0.009			0.75		1.381
2000		mse		.032	.018	.014	.012	.011	.011	.011	.011	.012	.013	.014		.014		uantile	0.50		1.042
= u (q)	\hat{f}_p	$\sim bs$.032 0	.018 0	.014 0	.012 0	.010 0	.010 0	0 600.	.008 0	.008 0	.007 0	.007 0		.013 0		G	0.25		0.863
		bias		0.002 0	0.001 0	0.002 0	0.003 0	0.004 0	0.005 0	0 900.0	0.007 0	0 600.0	0.011 0	0.012 0		0.005 0			0.10		0.758
			$h_{\mathrm{MSE}} imes$	0.1 (0.3 (0.5 (0.7 (0.9 (1 (1.1 (1.3 (1.5 (1.7 (1.9 (\hat{h})				$\hat{h}/h_{ extsf{MSE}}$	
	II		I													I	1	I		I	
	G	size		6.48	5.12	4.68	4.24	4.36	4.22	4.20	4.26	4.16	3.96	4.02		12.76			0.90		2.029
	SI	mean		0.043	0.024	0.018	0.015	0.013	0.013	0.012	0.011	0.011	0.010	0.010		0.012			0.75		1.388
= 1000		$\overline{\mathrm{mse}}$		0.042	0.024	0.018	0.016	0.014	0.014	0.014	0.014	0.015	0.016	0.017		0.017		uantile	0.50		1.035
(a) <i>n</i> =	\hat{f}_p	v ps		0.042 (0.024 (0.018 (0.015 (0.013 (0.012 (0.012 (0.011 (0.010 (0.010 (0.010 (0.016 (G	0.25		0.837
		$_{ m bias}$		0.005 (0.002 (0.003 (0.004 (0.005 (0.006 (0.007 (0.009 (0.011 (0.013 (0.014 (0.006 (0.10		0.726
		I	se ×	.1).3).5	0.7	9.0	_	1.1	L.3	L.5	7	6.1						h_{MSE}	

Table 7. Simulation (truncated Normal). x = 1.5, p = 2, triangular kernel.

Note. (i) bias: empirical bias of the estimators; (ii) sd: empirical standard deviation of the estimators; (iii) $\sqrt{\text{mse}}$: empirical MSE of the estimators; (iv) mean: empirical average of the estimated standard errors; (v) size: empirical size of testing the hypothesis at nominal 5% level, the test statistic is centered at $\mathbb{B}\hat{f}_p$.

$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		(a) n	- 1000					<i>u</i> (a)	- 2000		
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		\hat{f}_p		\mathbf{S}	E			\hat{f}_p		S	E
hmsex number 0.045 0.045 6.12 0.1 0.001 0.033 0.033 0.033 5 0.026 0.026 0.026 5.34 0.3 0.000 0.019 0.019 5 0.026 0.026 0.026 5.34 0.03 0.015 0.015 0.015 0.015 0.015 0.011 0.011 4.13 0.11 0.011 0.011 4.13 0.01 0.011 0.011 4.13 0.011 0.011 0.011 4.13 0.011 0.011 0.011 0.011 4.13 0.013 0.013 0.011 0.011 4.13 0.010 0.011 12 0.011 0.013 0.013 0.013 0.013 0.013 0.010 0.010 0.011		$^{\mathrm{sd}}$	$\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$	mean	size		$_{\mathrm{bias}}$	$^{\mathrm{sd}}$	$\sqrt{\text{mse}}$	mean	size
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$						$h_{\text{MSE}} \times$					
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		0.045	0.045	0.045	6.12	0.1	0.001	0.033	0.033	0.033	5.82
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		0.026	0.026	0.026	5.34	0.3	0.000	0.019	0.019	0.019	5.08
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		0.020	0.020	0.020	4.90	0.5	0.000	0.015	0.015	0.015	5.10
		0.017	0.017	0.017	4.34	0.7	0.001	0.013	0.013	0.013	5.10
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		0.015	0.016	0.016	4.38	0.9	0.002	0.011	0.011	0.011	4.80
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		0.015	0.015	0.015	4.12		0.003	0.011	0.011	0.011	4.54
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		0.014	0.016	0.015	4.30	1.1	0.004	0.010	0.011	0.011	4.60
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		0.013	0.017	0.014	4.38	1.3	0.008	0.010	0.013	0.010	4.82
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		0.013	0.021	0.013	4.36	1.5	0.013	0.009	0.016	0.009	4.86
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		0.012	0.027	0.012	4.34	1.7	0.019	0.009	0.021	0.009	4.78
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		0.011	0.034	0.012	4.70	1.9	0.026	0.008	0.028	0.009	4.38
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1					ĥ					
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		0.018	0.019	0.015	10.70		0.005	0.014	0.015	0.011	12.12
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$											
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1		Quantil	e					Quanti	e	
$\hat{h}/h_{ extsf{MSE}}$ 0.874 0.993 1.18 1.487 0.827 0.91 1.033 1.235 1.1		0.25	0.50	0.75	0.90		0.10	0.25	0.50	0.75	0.90
0.874 0.993 1.18 1.487 0.827 0.91 1.033 1.235 1.132 1.235 1.132 1.235 1.132 1.235 1.132 1.235 1.132 1.235 1.132 1.235 1.132 1.132 1.235 1.132	L					\hat{h}/h_{MSE}					
	-	0.874	0.993	1.18	1.487		0.82'	7 0.91	1.033	1.235	1.533

Table 8. Simulation (truncated Normal). x = 1.5, p = 3, triangular kernel.

Note. (i) bias: empirical bias of the estimators; (ii) sd: empirical standard deviation of the estimators; (iii) $\sqrt{\text{mse}}$: empirical MSE of the estimators; (iv) mean: empirical average of the estimated standard errors; (v) size: empirical size of testing the hypothesis at nominal 5% level, the test statistic is centered at $\mathbb{E}\hat{f}_p$.

kernel.
gular
trian
ų
d
Ò,
Ш
\ddot{x}
(L)
-12
<u> </u>
ne
Ö
X
É
OL
÷Ę
lla
n
<u>.</u>
\mathbf{v}
9.
e
Įq
Га
-

Quantile	-					Quantile	0		
0.079	0.073	-0.031		7.74	0.089	0.100	0.094	-0.033	
			\hat{h}						\hat{h}
0.097	0.032	-0.091	1.9	5.64	0.042	0.109	0.043	-0.100	1.9
0.085	0.035	-0.078	1.7	6.14	0.046	0.098	0.046	-0.086	1.7
0.075	0.038	-0.065	1.5	5.98	0.050	0.088	0.051	-0.072	1.5
0.067	0.042	-0.052	1.3	5.62	0.056	0.081	0.057	-0.058	1.3
0.062	0.048	-0.039	1.1	5.58	0.063	0.077	0.063	-0.044	1.1
0.061	0.051	-0.034	1	5.08	0.067	0.077	0.068	-0.038	1
0.061	0.054	-0.028	0.9	5.04	0.072	0.079	0.072	-0.032	0.9
0.065	0.063	-0.017	0.7	4.74	0.085	0.087	0.085	-0.020	0.7
0.078	0.078	-0.007	0.5	5.16	0.104	0.106	0.105	-0.009	0.5
0.103	0.103	0.000	0.3	5.46	0.140	0.142	0.142	-0.002	0.3
0.187	0.187	0.000	0.1	5.90	0.254	0.259	0.259	0.005	0.1
			$h_{\mathrm{MSE}} \times$						$h_{\rm MSE} \times$
$\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$	$^{\mathrm{sd}}$	$_{\mathrm{bias}}$		size	mean	$\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$	$^{\mathrm{sd}}$	$_{\mathrm{bias}}$	
	\hat{f}_p			ન	SI		\hat{f}_p		
= 2000	(q) <i>u</i>					= 1000	(a) <i>n</i> :		
	D	~	•	4	/				

 $5.08 \\ 4.90$

5.365.54

 $\begin{array}{c} 0.185\\ 0.103\\ 0.077\\ 0.063\\ 0.053\\ 0.050\\ 0.041\\ 0.041\\ 0.037\\ 0.034\\ 0.031\\ 0.031\\ 0.031 \end{array}$

mean size

 \mathbf{SE}

4.88

4.92

5.125.365.865.88

4.90

8.70

0.064

Note. (i) bias: empirical bias of the estimators; (ii) sd: empirical standard deviation of the estimators; (iii) \sqrt{mse} : empirical MSE of the estimators; (iv) mean: empirical average of the estimated standard errors; (v) size: empirical size of testing the hypothesis at nominal 5% level, the test statistic is centered at $\mathbb{B}\hat{f}_p$.

2.155

 $1.089 \quad 1.438$

0.916

0.815

1.94

1.274

0.99

0.836

0.749

 $\hat{h}/h_{ extsf{MSE}}$

 \hat{h}/h_{MSE}

0.90

0.75

0.50

0.25

0.10

0.90

0.75

0.50

0.25

0.10

kernel.
${ m triangular}$
, p = 3,
x = 0.
÷
(Exponential
Simulation
10.
Table

	ы	size		5.52	5.26	4.84	4.78	5.02	4.80	4.88	5.06	5.42	5.50	5.60		5.78	
	S	mean		0.237	0.132	0.098	0.080	0.069	0.064	0.060	0.054	0.049	0.045	0.041		0.092	e
= 2000		$\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$		0.239	0.132	0.099	0.080	0.069	0.065	0.062	0.057	0.054	0.053	0.054		0.097	Quantil
(q) u	\hat{f}_p	$^{\mathrm{ps}}$		0.239	0.132	0.099	0.080	0.069	0.065	0.061	0.055	0.050	0.046	0.042		0.097	
		$_{\mathrm{bias}}$		0.000	0.004	0.003	-0.001	-0.005	-0.007	-0.010	-0.015	-0.021	-0.027	-0.034		0.000	
			$h_{\mathrm{MSE}} \times$	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	1	1.1	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.9	ĥ		
		е		0	4	6	2	8	2	0	0	8	6	9		9	
	പ	siz		5.3	5.2	5.2	4.5	4.5	5.0	4.9	5.6	5.5	6.1	5.7		5.9	
	S	mean		0.326	0.179	0.134	0.109	0.093	0.087	0.081	0.073	0.066	0.060	0.055		0.128	
= 1000		$\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$		0.332	0.182	0.135	0.108	0.093	0.087	0.082	0.075	0.071	0.068	0.068		0.135	uantile
(a) <i>n</i> =	\hat{f}_p	$^{\mathrm{ps}}$		0.332	0.182	0.135	0.108	0.092	0.086	0.081	0.073	0.067	0.061	0.056		0.135	
		$_{\mathrm{bias}}$		0.008	0.003	0.002	-0.003	-0.007	-0.009	-0.012	-0.018	-0.024	-0.031	-0.039		0.000	
			$h_{\rm MSE} \times$	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	1	1.1	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.9	ĥ		

0.90

0.75

0.50

0.25

0.10

0.90

0.75

0.50

0.25

0.10

Quantile

0.9

0.705

0.594

0.531

0.49

0.877

0.678

0.574

0.511

0.47

 \hat{h}/h_{MSE}

 $\hat{h}/h_{ extsf{MSE}}$

Note. (i) bias: empirical bias of the estimators; (ii) sd: empirical standard deviation of the estimators; (iii) \sqrt{mse} : empirical MSE of the estimators; (iv) mean: empirical average of the estimated standard errors; (v) size: empirical size of testing the hypothesis at nominal 5% level, the test statistic is centered at $\mathbb{E}\hat{f}_p$.

kernel.
${ m triangular}$
ų,
= d
<u>1</u>
x
÷
lxponential
E
Simulation
11.
Table :

		ze		26	16	34	36	20	32	28	02	92	26	50		64		90	
	E	ı si		5.	رى ت.	ъ.	رى ت.	۱ 5.			5.	4.	4.	.4		į 9.		0.0	
		mear		0.049	0.027	0.021	0.017	0.014	0.013	0.013	0.011	0.010	0.002	0.00		0.014	e	0.75	
= 2000		$\sqrt{\text{mse}}$		0.049	0.028	0.021	0.018	0.016	0.016	0.016	0.017	0.020	0.024	0.028		0.017	Quantil	0.50	
: u (q)	\hat{f}_p	$^{\mathrm{sd}}$		0.049	0.027	0.021	0.017	0.014	0.013	0.013	0.011	0.010	0.009	0.008		0.015		0.25	
		$_{ m bias}$		0.004	0.002	0.003	0.005	0.007	0.008	0.010	0.013	0.017	0.022	0.027		0.007		0.10	
			$h_{\text{MSE}} \times$	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	1	1.1	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.9	ĥ				\hat{h}/h_{MSE}
	G	size		5.88	5.30	5.32	5.22	5.00	5.10	4.90	4.74	4.66	4.42	4.10		11.84		0.90	
	S	mean		0.065	0.036	0.027	0.022	0.018	0.017	0.016	0.014	0.012	0.011	0.010		0.017	0	0.75	
= 1000		$\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$		0.065	0.036	0.027	0.023	0.021	0.020	0.020	0.022	0.026	0.030	0.034		0.022	Quantile	0.50	
(a) <i>n</i>	$\hat{f}_p^{}$	$^{\mathrm{sd}}$		0.065	0.036	0.027	0.022	0.019	0.017	0.016	0.014	0.012	0.011	0.010		0.021		0.25	
		bias		0.006	0.003	0.004	0.006	0.009	0.011	0.013	0.017	0.023	0.028	0.033		0.008		0.10	
			$h_{\rm MSE} imes$	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	Ч	1.1	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.9	ĥ				\hat{h}/h_{MSE}

Note. (i) bias: empirical bias of the estimators; (ii) sd: empirical standard deviation of the estimators; (iii) $\sqrt{\text{mse}}$: empirical MSE of the estimators; (iv) mean: empirical average of the estimated standard errors; (v) size: empirical size of testing the hypothesis at nominal 5% level, the test statistic is centered at $\mathbb{E}\hat{f}_p$.

 $0.813 \quad 0.869 \quad 0.943 \quad 1.043 \quad 1.173$

 $0.783 \quad 0.846 \quad 0.934 \quad 1.065 \quad 1.269$

kernel.
${ m triangular}$
p=3,
x = 1,
(Exponential)
Simulation
12.
Table

	\mathbf{SE}	mean size		0.047 5.62	0.026 5.20	0.020 5.38	0.016 5.16	0.015 5.18	0.014 5.20	0.013 5.16	0.012 5.16	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 0.012 & 5.16 \\ 0.011 & 5.28 \end{array}$	0.012 5.16 0.011 5.28 0.010 5.24	0.012 5.16 0.011 5.28 0.010 5.24 0.0009 5.16	0.012 5.16 0.011 5.28 0.010 5.24 0.009 5.16
= 2000		$\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$		0.047	0.026	0.020	0.017	0.015	0.014	0.014	0.012	0.012 0.012	0.012 0.012 0.011	0.012 0.012 0.011 0.012	$\begin{array}{c} 0.012 \\ 0.012 \\ 0.011 \\ 0.012 \\ 0.012 \end{array}$
= u (q)	\hat{f}_p	$^{\mathrm{ps}}$		0.047	0.026	0.020	0.017	0.015	0.014	0.014	0.012	$0.012 \\ 0.011$	0.012 0.011 0.010	$\begin{array}{c} 0.012 \\ 0.011 \\ 0.010 \\ 0.009 \end{array}$	0.012 0.011 0.010 0.009
		$_{\mathrm{bias}}$		0.002	0.001	0.000	-0.001	-0.002	-0.002	-0.001	0.001	0.001 0.003	0.001 0.003 0.006	0.001 0.003 0.006 0.008	0.001 0.003 0.006 0.008
	1		$h_{\text{MSE}} \times$	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	1	1.1	1.3	$1.3 \\ 1.5$	1.3 1.5 1.7	$ \begin{array}{c} 1.3 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.9 \\ 1.9 \\ \end{array} $	1.3 1.5 1.7 1.9 \hat{h}
		size		5.72	5.04	5.04	5.08	5.52	5.44	5.32	1.96	1.96 1.76	1.96 4.76 4.78	1.96 1.76 1.78 1.66	1.96 1.76 1.78 1.66
	\mathbf{SE}	mean :		0.064	0.036	0.027	0.022	0.020	0.019	0.018	0.016	0.016 ¢ 0.015 ¢	0.016 4 0.015 4 0.013 4	0.016 4 0.015 4 0.013 4 0.012 4	0.016 4 0.015 4 0.013 4 0.012 4
= 1000		$\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$		0.064	0.036	0.027	0.023	0.020	0.019	0.018	0.017	0.017 0.015	0.017 0.015 0.015	0.017 0.015 0.015 0.016	0.017 0.015 0.015 0.016
(a) $n =$	\hat{f}_p	$^{\mathrm{sd}}$		0.064	0.036	0.027	0.023	0.020	0.019	0.018	0.017	0.017 0.015	0.017 0.015 0.013	0.017 0.015 0.013 0.012	$\begin{array}{c} 0.017 \\ 0.015 \\ 0.013 \\ 0.012 \\ \end{array}$
		$_{\mathrm{bias}}$		0.003	0.001	0.000	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	0.000	0.002	0.002 0.005	0.002 0.005 0.008	0.002 0.005 0.008 0.011	0.002 0.005 0.008 0.011
			i i												

0.90

0.75

0.50

0.25

0.10

0.90

0.75

0.50

0.25

0.10

1.35

1.096

0.927

0.823

0.76

1.271

1.021

0.862

0.765

0.708

 \hat{h}/h_{MSE}

 $\hat{h}/h_{ extsf{MSE}}$

Note. (i) bias: empirical bias of the estimators; (ii) sd: empirical standard deviation of the estimators; (iii) \sqrt{mse} : empirical MSE of the estimators; (iv) mean: empirical average of the estimated standard errors; (v) size: empirical size of testing the hypothesis at nominal 5% level, the test statistic is centered at $\mathbb{B}\hat{f}_p$.

•
5
Ĕ
H
Ξ
<u>– A</u>
H
<u> </u>
Ξ.
0.6
ĩ
F
- 22
1
+
-
51
11
11
0
2
<u>، ش</u>
цэ 1
<u> </u>
\mathcal{L}
< a
÷
<u>.</u>
al).
cial).
ntial).
ential).
nential).
onential).
onential).
ponential).
xponential).
Exponential).
(Exponential).
n (Exponential).
on (Exponential).
ion (Exponential).
tion (Exponential).
ation (Exponential).
ilation (Exponential).
nulation (Exponential).
mulation (Exponential).
imulation (Exponential).
Simulation (Exponential).
Simulation (Exponential).
3. Simulation (Exponential).
13. Simulation (Exponential).
13. Simulation (Exponential).
e 13. Simulation (Exponential).
ole 13. Simulation (Exponential).
ble 13. Simulation (Exponential).
able 13. Simulation (Exponential).

																			ı	ı	
(b) $n = 2000$	SE	size		6.12	5.96	5.62	5.14	4.92	5.04	5.00	4.94	4.90	4.54	4.60		8.24			0.90		1.157
		mean		0.036	0.020	0.016	0.013	0.011	0.011	0.010	0.009	0.008	0.008	0.007		0.011		le	0.75		1.046
	\hat{f}_p	$\sqrt{\text{mse}}$		0.037	0.021	0.016	0.013	0.012	0.012	0.012	0.013	0.015	0.018	0.021		0.013		Quanti	0.50		0.952
		$^{\mathrm{sd}}$		0.037	0.021	0.016	0.013	0.011	0.011	0.010	0.009	0.008	0.008	0.007		0.012			0.25		0.88
		bias		0.001	0.001	0.002	0.003	0.005	0.006	0.007	0.010	0.013	0.016	0.020		0.005			0.10		0.83
		I	$h_{\text{MSE}} \times$	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	1	1.1	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.9	ĥ					$\hat{h}/h_{ extsf{MSE}}$	
(a) $n = 1000$	\hat{f}_p SE	size		6.04	5.30	4.76	4.34	4.30	4.38	4.52	4.46	4.38	4.02	4.12		8.74			0.90		1.21
		mean		0.048	0.027	0.020	0.017	0.015	0.014	0.013	0.012	0.011	0.010	0.009		0.014			0.75		1.065
		$\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$		0.049	0.027	0.020	0.017	0.016	0.015	0.016	0.017	0.019	0.023	0.026		0.017		Quantile	0.50		0.947
		$^{\mathrm{sd}}$		0.048	0.027	0.020	0.017	0.014	0.013	0.013	0.011	0.010	0.009	0.009		0.016			0.25		0.863
		$_{\mathrm{bias}}$		0.003	0.002	0.002	0.004	0.006	0.008	0.009	0.013	0.016	0.021	0.025		0.006			0.10		0.803
		I	$h_{\text{MSE}} \times$	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	1	1.1	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.9	ĥ					$\hat{h}/h_{ extsf{MSE}}$	

Note. (i) bias: empirical bias of the estimators; (ii) sd: empirical standard deviation of the estimators; (iii) $\sqrt{\text{mse}}$: empirical MSE of the estimators; (iv) mean: empirical average of the estimated standard errors; (v) size: empirical size of testing the hypothesis at nominal 5% level, the test statistic is centered at $\mathbb{B}\hat{f}_p$.

kernel.
triangular
ς,
d
ų
= x
÷
Exponential
<u>ר</u>
ulation
Simı
14.
pla
Ta

(b) $n = 2000$	SE	size		6.02	6.04	5.42	5.08	5.14	5.22	4.96	5.38	5.24	5.22	5.16		8.32	
		mean		0.035	0.020	0.015	0.013	0.012	0.011	0.011	0.010	0.010	0.010	0.009		0.010	٥
		$\sqrt{\mathrm{mse}}$		0.036	0.020	0.016	0.013	0.012	0.012	0.012	0.013	0.012	0.011	0.010		0.012	Quantil
	\hat{f}_p	$^{\mathrm{sd}}$		0.036	0.020	0.016	0.013	0.012	0.011	0.011	0.011	0.010	0.010	0.009		0.011	
		bias		0.000	0.000	0.000	-0.001	-0.002	-0.003	-0.005	-0.007	-0.007	-0.006	-0.004		-0.003	
			$h_{\text{MSE}} \times$	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	1	1.1	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.9	ĥ		
															1		
	SE	size		6.14	4.88	4.34	4.58	4.62	4.76	4.68	4.78	4.78	4.86	4.92		7.32	
		mean		0.048	0.027	0.021	0.018	0.016	0.015	0.015	0.014	0.014	0.013	0.012		0.014	
= 1000		$\sqrt{\text{mse}}$		0.049	0.027	0.021	0.018	0.016	0.016	0.016	0.016	0.015	0.014	0.012		0.016	Quantile
(a) <i>n</i> =	\hat{f}_p	sd		0.049	0.027	0.021	0.018	0.016	0.015	0.015	0.014	0.014	0.013	0.012		0.015	
		$_{ m bias}$		0.000	0.000	0.000	-0.001	-0.003	-0.004	-0.006	-0.007	-0.006	-0.004	-0.002		-0.003	
			$h_{\mathrm{MSE}} imes$	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	1	1.1	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.9	ĥ		

Note. (i) bias: empirical bias of the estimators; (ii) sd: empirical standard deviation of the estimators; (iii) $\sqrt{\text{mse}}$: empirical MSE of the estimators; (iv) mean: empirical average of the estimated standard errors; (v) size: empirical size of testing the hypothesis at nominal 5% level, the test statistic is centered at $\mathbb{E}\hat{f}_p$.

0.90

0.75

0.50

0.25

0.10

0.90

0.75

0.50

0.25

0.10

 \hat{h}/h_{MSE}

 $\hat{h}/h_{ extsf{MSE}}$

1.225 1.454 1.91

1.091

1.015

1.761

1.393

1.17

0.962 1.035